

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

The Narratives of Cross-Cultural Misidentification and Exoneration in Wrongly Convicted Men

Miki L. Ross-Elster Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the African American Studies Commons, and the Psychology Commons

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Miki Ross-Elster

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Susan Marcus, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Jerrod Brown, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty Dr. Susana Verdinelli, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

The Narratives of Cross-Cultural Misidentification and Exoneration in Wrongly Convicted Men

by

Miki Ross-Elster

BS, California State University Hayward, 2002 MS, California State University Hayward, 2005 MA, California State University Hayward, 2007

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Forensic Psychology

Walden University

February 2022

Abstract

Wrongful conviction is often due to misidentification, particularly cross-cultural misidentification. DNA errors and other influences (e.g., the weapon focus effect, mugshot error, police suggestibility) also increase the risk of wrongful conviction, and the process of exoneration is onerous. The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore the experience of cross-cultural misidentification, wrongful conviction, exoneration, and the return to society of formerly incarcerated men. Implicit bias theory served as the theoretical framework and refers to both attitudes and stereotypes that people hold without realizing and the way these unconsciously affect how a particular person or event is perceived. A narrative analysis was conducted to capture each participant's experiences from wrongful conviction to the present moment. The results of the two participant narratives revealed parallel experiences of cross-racial misidentification and wrongful conviction. Both revealed struggles and humiliations during prison, and both spoke of the combination of tremendous personal effort plus fortuitous circumstances that ultimately led to their exoneration. Both were able to rebuild their lives, cultivate family and friends, and work to help others in similar circumstances. Research recommendations include both quantitative and qualitative examinations of the judicial process where implicit bias may influence the process and outcomes. Social change implications include using these findings to make substantive, changes to the arrest, conviction, exoneration and return to society to ameliorate the ongoing injustice of wrongful conviction.

The Narratives of Cross-Cultural Misidentification and Exoneration in Wrongly Convicted Men

by

Miki Ross-Elster

BS, California State University Hayward, 2002 MS, California State University Hayward, 2005 MA, California State University Hayward, 2007

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Forensic Psychology

Walden University
February 2022

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated firstly to the two people that have supported me throughout in every possible way, have gone constantly out of their way to assist me when I threw my hands up and cried, and if not for them this never would have been completed:

Dr. Susan Marcus – Chairperson

Cat Heck – Dissertation Specialist

In addition, I have to thank my children who have so patiently stood by me as I labored through this process over the last decade, the women in Chowchilla and C.I.W. prisons as well as so many of the incarcerated men and women throughout the California prison's INJUSTICE system who languish unheard and unassisted while they still declare their innocence and await the opportunity for the opportunity to prove it.

Acknowledgments

I want to thank Dr. Nina Nabors and Dr. Kristin Beyer for their awareness of the complications that arose during my dissertation process and worked so diligently and endlessly to right the wrongs that arose.

I want to thank the incredible Academic Advisors I was so gifted with prior to Cat Heck: in alphabetical order; Prentis Moore, Greg Murphy and Joe Underwood. They ALWAYS went above and beyond with any situation I found myself trapped in.

I also want to thank Dr. Jerrod Brown, for being supportive enough to allow me to continue working primarily through Dr. Marcus, believing it was in my best interest. I appreciated his continued support and efforts.

Table of Contents

| Li | st of Tables | V |
|----|--|----|
| Cł | napter 1: Introduction to the Study | 1 |
| | Background | 3 |
| | Problem Statement | 5 |
| | Purpose of the Study | 7 |
| | Research Questions | 7 |
| | Theoretical Framework | 8 |
| | Nature of the Study | 8 |
| | Definitions. | 9 |
| | Assumptions | 10 |
| | Scope and Delimitations | 11 |
| | Limitations | 11 |
| | Researcher Bias | 12 |
| | Significance | 13 |
| | Summary | 14 |
| Cł | napter 2: Literature Review | 15 |
| | Literature Search Strategy | 17 |
| | History of Wrongful Convictions | 17 |
| | Cross-Racial Misidentification Wrongful Conviction | 19 |
| | Theoretical Foundation | 22 |
| | Research on Implicit Bias | 24 |

| | Cross-Racial Identification | 27 |
|---|--|----|
| | Other Factors that Contribute to Misidentification | 31 |
| | The Weapon Focus Effect | 31 |
| | WFE and Cross-Racial Misidentification | 36 |
| | Memory | 37 |
| | Memory and Cross-Racial Misidentification. | 41 |
| | Police Suggestibility | 42 |
| | Mugshot Exposure | 45 |
| | Mugshot Exposure and Cross-Racial Misidentification | 46 |
| | Research on Exoneration | 46 |
| | Definition and Background. | 46 |
| | Coping With Wrongful Conviction | 48 |
| | Post-Exoneration Challenges | 49 |
| | Post-Exoneration Stigma | 50 |
| | Post-Exoneration Legal and Financial Relief | 51 |
| | Factors That Influence the Likelihood of Exoneration | 56 |
| | Post-Exoneration Experience | 58 |
| | Ban the Box | 60 |
| | The Innocence Project | 61 |
| | Summary and Conclusions | 64 |
| C | hapter 3: Research Method | 66 |
| | Research Design and Rationale | 66 |

| Research Questions | 66 |
|--|----|
| Phenomena of Interest | 67 |
| Tradition | 67 |
| Role of the Researcher | 68 |
| Researcher Bias | 68 |
| Methodology | 69 |
| Participant Selection Logic | 69 |
| Instrumentation | 70 |
| Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection | 73 |
| Data Analysis Plan | 74 |
| Issues of Trustworthiness | 74 |
| Credibility | 74 |
| Transferability | 75 |
| Dependability | 75 |
| Confirmability | 76 |
| Ethical Procedures | 76 |
| Summary | 78 |
| Chapter 4: Results | 79 |
| Setting | 79 |
| Demographics | 80 |
| Data Collection | 80 |
| Data Analysis | 81 |

| Evidence of Trustworthiness | 85 |
|---|-----|
| Credibility | 85 |
| Transferability | 85 |
| Dependability | 86 |
| Confirmability | 86 |
| Results | 86 |
| Thematic Results | 87 |
| Responding to the Research Questions | 88 |
| Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations | 92 |
| Interpretation of Findings | 93 |
| Interpretation Relevant to Published Literature | 93 |
| Interpretation Relevant to IBT | 96 |
| Limitations | 97 |
| Recommendations for Future Research | 98 |
| Implications | 99 |
| Conclusions | 100 |
| References | 102 |
| Appendix: Interview Guide | 148 |

List of Tables

| Table 1. Key Concepts and Associated Literature | . 72 |
|---|------|
| Table 2. Themes, Examples of Categories and Representative Quotes | . 83 |

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

It is better that ten guilty persons escape [punishment] than that one innocent suffers.

—William Blackstone, 1893 (Allhoff, 2018, p.1)

Over the last 100 years, documented eyewitness testimony has become a generally accepted source of evidence in jury trials (Gould & Leo 2010). However, there has also been a growing body of evidence indicating a substantive problem relying on this form of evidence. The actual study of wrongful convictions began in 1932 with Edward Borchard's *Convicting the Innocent*. More recently, national databases have estimated that between 1989 and 2021, 2,978 exonerations have been recorded (National Registry of Exonerations [NRE], n.d.). In other words, 2,978 human beings have been wrongfully convicted, imprisoned, or sentenced to death because of eyewitness misidentification of the offender This number may be an underestimate, as only recorded cases are included.

The phenomenon of misidentification has been studied in the academic, legal, and public policy domains. Of particular interest have been the factors that influence eyewitness misidentification. These include the weapon focus effect, lighting, age of witness, race similarity or difference, gender, and even possible toxicology status (Leo, 2016; Mansour et al., 2018; Nguyen et al., 2018; Wells & Olson, 2003). However, of greatest urgency for study is the role of cross-racial identification (CRI). In an era of heightened social awareness of the cross-section between race, law enforcement, and incarceration (Banks et al., 2006; Chokshi, 2017; Clemons, 2014; Dixon & Maddox,

2005; Smith & Hattery, 2011), researchers, policy makers, and social activists are calling for more research, policy change, and social change to reveal and revise practices that penalize minority groups because of the color of their skin (Branigan et al., 2017; Burch, 2015; Finkeldey & Demuth, 2019; Monk, 2019; White, 2013).

CRI is the act of identifying someone that is of a different race than the person in question (Stenzel, 2017; Wong et al., 2020). Also known as cross race effect (CRE), is the situation whereby a person of one race/ethnicity is different from the race of the person the witness is asked to identify (Ryan, 2017). It occurs most often when one of the parties in a criminal investigation is a witness and is asked to identify the alleged perpetrator of a crime. Given the growing recognition of systemic racial bias in the criminal justice system and the racial divisions predominant in the United States, misidentification in cases of CRI for alleged offenders who are people of color is often at work. Further, many crimes of violence such as rape, armed robbery, and murder, are often cross-racial (The Innocence Project, 2019; NRE, n.d.). The unfamiliarity of facial recognition and differential features combined with the social psychological biases that influence the need to resolve conflict and provide support to the victim makes misidentification and conviction far more common than people realize (Gould & Leo 2010; Scheck & Neufeld 2000; The Innocence Project, 2019).

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore the experience of crosscultural misidentification, wrongful conviction, exoneration, and the subsequent return to society of formerly incarcerated men through narrative inquiry. It was hoped that through these stories, the research findings would illuminate the pitfalls of this process and contribute to organizations who are committed to supporting such individuals as they strive to prove their innocence.

In this chapter, I summarize the research on eyewitness misidentification and wrongful conviction. I also summarize the literature on exoneration and return to society. This is followed by the research problem, purpose, and research questions that guided the study. The nature of the study and the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations are presented within the defined boundaries of the study. I then describe strategies for trustworthiness and explain the significance of this study by demonstrating how this study had the opportunity to contribute to social and policy changes to reduce the risk of wrongful conviction.

Background

Wrongful conviction has always been a risk in judicial procedures where witnesses at the scene and jurors in the trial have had to make determinations of guilt based on confusing, scant, or inconsistent information (Flavaris & Chapman, 2015; LaPorte, 2017; Leo, 2005, 2016). Furthermore, the consequences of wrongful conviction are profound—a criminal record, time in prison, the psychological and social struggle for representation, and the legal efforts by poorly funded defenders to gather evidence sufficient for review (Leo, 2005, 2017). The NRE, founded in 2012, has built a database of the nature and frequency of wrongful convictions. The NRE found that 71% of more than 360 wrongful convictions were associated with CRI (The Innocence Project, 2019; NRE, n.d.).

The frequency of wrongful conviction has become more apparent with improved identification technologies, particularly DNA testing (Bohannon, 2014; Kang et al., 2012; Medwig, 2017; The Innocence Project, 2020). For example, LaPorte (2017) published a seminal review of wrongful convictions and the role of forensic science. He reported that the U.S. National Forensic Laboratories have adopted new methods and technologies over the past two decades and started the Postconviction Testing of DNA Evidence to Exonerate the Innocent grant program. Since 2008, the National Institute of Justice (NIJ) funded more than 50,000 case reviews that have resulted in 28 exonerations.

The dilemma for the wrongly convicted individuals who are then incarcerated is that they have limited abilities to pursue efforts to reverse the conviction. For example, parole boards would not parole or grant freedom to anyone who maintained their plea of innocence (Goodman, 2009; Harris, 2012; Medwig, 2017). Only when it became truly visible, through efforts like the Innocence Project and other scholarly and public outcries, that those mistakes were being made and that innocent people, particularly predominantly people of color, were the main victims of those mistakes, did greater notice begin to be taken (Goldstein et al., 2019; Gould et al., 2014; Howard, 2019). Medwed (2017) noted that the, "DNA revolution," brought greater public awareness to the scope of wrongful conviction and how the criminal justice system was riddled with systemic racism and needed radical and immediate reform.

Current research has shown the progression from when the plight of the wrongfully convicted began to be recognized to the subsequent struggles of those later exonerated that exacerbated the original wrongful conviction itself Since 1973, 1,146

prisoners across the United States have been exonerated (Malkani, 2018). Between 1989 and 2022, the NRE (n.d.) has reported a total of 2,978 exonerees. Compensation policies continue to vary from state to state and attitudes towards compensation itself varies. Karaffa et al. (2017) found that minorities, men, and elderly exonerees were rated as more deserving of financial compensation. Housing has also become an issue for exonerees as landlords have gone from being hesitant to refusing to rent to exonerees (Zanella et al., 2019). When reintegration services were looked at, people were reluctant to assist exonerees (Scherr et al., 2018). Current literature has shown the progression from basic minimization of wrongful conviction and little attention if any to the fate of the exonerated after wrongful conviction (Hetey & Eberhardt, 2018). Exonerated individuals have found their experiences drastically different in every state with regard to compensation, resources, reentry into the community, employment, housing and community assistance.

Problem Statement

The Georgia Innocence Project studies point out that approximately 3%-5% (about 69,000-115,000) of people in prison are innocent of the crimes for which they have been convicted (Hetey & Eberhardt, 2018). Of those, the racial inequality is evident in that they are overwhelmingly people of color, where the Black suspects are arrested, convicted, and sentenced for their crimes far more often. Initially, it was accepted that once a witness pointed out someone as the perpetrator of a crime, it was accepted as probably truth, and almost always a defendant was convicted on that testimony. This was true even when it came to death penalty cases. The Innocence Project has statistically

shown this to happen most often to people of color (Goldstein et al., 2019; Howard, 2019; The Innocence Project, 2019; Reggy et al., 2020).

A secondary problem has been that when exoneration occurs, and resources are no longer available because the person is no longer considered formerly convicted (NRE, 2019). Past research has shown that innocent people have been executed and often have spent over decades erroneously incarcerated. Compensation for such atrocities have varied from zero compensation to monetary lifetime reimbursement stipends. It is solely regarded as a state issue with no standard compensation (The Innocence Project, 2019; NRE, 2018).

There have been some studies on what happens to these individuals once they are exonerated (Karaffa et al., 2017; Kirshenbaum et al., 2020). For example, Kirshenbaum et al. (2020) did an extensive review of the literature and found that many factors (e.g., individual differences, prison experience, and post-release) influence reintegration. This study and others have called for more research on what happens to those individuals who are released.

In sum, a considerable amount of research has demonstrated that the problem of wrongful conviction is extensive and has warranted both academic investigation and public recognition. Most research has focused on the beginning of the story (CRI issues and wrongful conviction). However, little research has detailed the lives of those who have lived the wrongful conviction to exoneration experience. Most recently, Norris and Mullinix (2019) conducted controlled studies to demonstrate that public opinion can be

influenced more by personal narratives than "facts and figures" and call for more research on the human experience of wrongful conviction and exoneration.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore the experience of crosscultural misidentification, wrongful conviction, exoneration, and the return to society of formerly incarcerated men. I used a narrative approach to understand the experience and its meaning, and this study has focused on (a) the turning points of the wrongful conviction and exoneration experience, and (b) the meaning of coping during and after incarceration.

Research Questions

The primary research question that I sought to answer was this: What is the experience of cross-cultural misidentification, wrongful conviction, exoneration, and return to society in formerly incarcerated men? The subquestions that guided this inquiry included the following:

- 1. How does the narrative begin?
- 2. What were the turning points leading up to wrongful conviction?
- 3. Were there other influencing factors in the misidentification?
- 4. What is the meaning of cross-cultural misidentification?
- 5. What was daily life like for the wrongfully convicted individual during their incarceration?
- 6. What was revealed during the process of exoneration?
- 7. What is the present moment of the narrative?

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework for this study was implicit bias theory (IBT; Amin, 2017; Brownstein, 2019; Devine et al., 2012; Frank, 2016; Greenwald & Banaji, 2017; Harty & Hermanson, 2020; Hinton, 2017; Holroyd et al., 2017; Kang et al., 2012; Maina et al., 2017; Van Cleve, 2016). The premise for this theory was that jurors come into the experience with an inherent bias. IBT was first put forth by psychologist Mahzarin Banaji roughly 20 years ago and refers to both attitudes and stereotypes that people hold without realizing it; unconsciously, this affects the way they see a particular person or event (Greenwald & Banaji, 2017). In effect, it can be described as a way that people can see or respond to or act upon a given set of circumstances or evidence and form a conclusion that is not necessarily based solely on the evidence or dearth of evidence set before them (Amin, 2017; Frank, 2016; Hinton, 2017; Holroyd et al., 2017; Levinson, 2006, Levinson et al, 2019). The concepts identified in this theory were used to develop the interview guide questions and analysis plan.

Nature of the Study

Narrative analysis was the qualitative approach used for this study. In utilizing this approach, I was able to capture each participant's individual story relating their experiences from wrongful conviction to the immediate present moment (Riessman, 2008). It was a phenomenological presentation that best demonstrated the individual's personal lived experience. I planned to use Riessman's (2008) thematic analysis strategy to guide my data analysis plan. Narrative thematic analysis is a way to interpret stories that people create. The purpose here was to understand how people found meaning in

their experiences. Narrative thematic analysis allows researchers to analyze and interpret the stories created and then find a way to connect those stories to people who are often in their everyday lives. One of the advantages of narrative's thematic analysis is greater insight (Riessman, 2008). Through open-ended questions, the narrator is urged to go into greater depth and ultimately allows the researcher to interpret the narrator's emotions. This in turn then further allows the reader to be able to connect with the narrator. This approach is detailed in Chapter 3.

Definitions

Cross-cultural identification: Cross cultural identification occurs or exists when the witness to an event is identifying who they believe is the perpetrator of the criminal behavior and the race of the perpetrator is different than the race of the witness. When the witness is unfamiliar with the race of the person who they believe is the perpetrator, it can result in "misidentification" due to the same-race bias that exists in identifications (Ferguson, 2020; Ryan, 2017).

Exoneration: The action of officially absolving someone from blame; vindication. Exoneration occurs when a conviction for a crime is reversed either through evidence demonstrating innocence or often a flaw in the actual conviction that violated a defendant's civil rights to the point of inability to sustain or retry for a second attempt at conviction (NRE, 2019; The Innocence Project, 2019).

Factual innocence: Where the evidence presented through the prosecutor in a court of law does not establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, or in fact points clearly to the defendant's innocence (Scherr et al., 2018).

Juror instructions: These are statements and information that the judge will offer to the jury and can be done both during the trial itself and following closing arguments. They can include statements advising the jury not to discuss the case as well as to disregard statements that are considered inadmissible as well as how to consider applicable rules of law and possible verdicts after they move to the jury room to deliberate (Gray, 1999).

Technical innocence: This occurs when prosecutors' misconduct is so egregious as to preclude the defendant from ever getting a fair trial and, therefore, the defendant cannot be tried again (Leo, 2016).

Wrongful conviction: A wrongful conviction is when a person who is innocent is convicted of a crime. Wrongful convictions are typically only discovered after the conviction has been made, and upon further investigation (NRE, 2018).

Assumptions

Several assumptions were made about the participants and the interview process. I assumed that the members of the target group would be willing to share their experiences in a way that provided rich, thick descriptions. Prior to interviewing, I assumed it was possible that stories might be similar, that coping mechanisms might be similar, and that there might not even be discrepancies in statements or across cases. It was also assumed that some or most of the participants might have a degree of bitterness towards their experience and have difficulty in their reentry into society.

Scope and Delimitations

The participants of this study were associated with The Exonerated Nation, a specific nonprofit organization that was founded by an exonerated man, Obie Anthony. Although the members can be from different areas of the United States and have served in different states, the common theme among them is that they were wrongly convicted by cross-cultural eyewitness misidentification due to juror perception of the witness's accuracy. For the purpose of this study, participants were from California.

The scope of the study was also influenced by the key informants who reached out to potential participants. It was probable that many to most of the participants might come from the same regional area of California and that their prison experiences would be limited to only a few of the prisons of that particular region. The delimitations of the study include persons who are wrongly convicted but not officially exonerated or out of prison. Further, I did not interview people who were technically exonerated (i.e., the courts' egregious conduct) but were in fact guilty of crimes.

The scope of the study was limited to men, as there were almost no women available to participate. I have learned of one woman who was currently in the process of being exonerated and since the process was not completed before this dissertation was completed, I did not ask the key informant to distribute an invitation to her.

Limitations

The limitations of qualitative research are managed using procedures to enhance trustworthiness, and I made every attempt to employ these procedures to enhance the trustworthiness of the process (Shenton, 2004). To enhance credibility, I used verbatim

transcripts as the data source, and sent summaries of the interviews to participants to validate and/or correct my understanding of their experiences. For transferability, I clearly and consistently documented the research process to demonstrate compliance with a well-regarded qualitative method. I planned to be transparent in my data analysis methods so that other researchers may replicate the study at some future time. (Shenton, 2004).

Dependability assumes replicability or repeatability, and I made sure to clearly document my procedures for data collection and analysis and reported these procedures in Chapters 3 and 4. For confirmability, I was meticulous in documenting the participants expressions using audio recording and verbatim transcription, and I used a journal and audit trail to document the process as well as my feelings and interpretations.

Researcher Bias

Working with prisoners since 1966 has instilled in me both a personal perspective and a perception of both correctional institutions and many correctional employees, so keeping my personal feelings aside was a difficult task; researchers' subjective viewpoints represent a difficult boundary to be on constant alert for (Chenail, 2011; Malone et al., 2014; Tufford & Newman, 2012). The Exonerated Nation organization provided my resource database, and anyone whose name was familiar to me or who recognized my name was excluded from the study. I selected only those exonerees that I had no prior connection to in any capacity before the interview took place.

By remembering that I have this subjective view, I asked open-ended, not leading questions, and just listened without commenting. Malone et al. (2014) alleged that any

stage of the process can see researcher bias. I was hypervigilant regarding either interjecting a subjective opinion or even offering simplistic hints of bias through sounds or emphasis on any particular response. One issue to be on the alert for is self-disclosure on the part of this researcher. Self-disclosure could influence the objectivity of the participant (Audet & Everall, 2010) for a number of reasons; the need to please, the need to feel on equal footing with the researcher, or simply thinking there is a right or wrong answer. It is important to know that I was able to simply describe and not subjectively interpret, the responses offered by the participants (Chan et al., 2013). I also utilized strategies of audio recording and verbatim transcription of interviews, member checking, audit trails, and detailed documentation of the research process to minimize the influence of bias. These are further described in procedures sections.

Significance

It is hoped that the results of this study will contribute to the prosecutorial side of convictions, so that prosecutors can become more willing to explore every possibility that might prove innocence, and not rush to judgment to incarcerate innocent individuals on biased evidence or eyewitness testimony alone. I also hope that the results of this study can and will be shared with judges to improve jury instructions that clarify difficulty and scientifically documented unreliability of cross-cultural eyewitness identification. Many laymen, many jurors are completely unaware of this fact. Human beings languish in prison for decades and the community applauds the release of the wrongly convicted. It is hoped that this research will influence the discontinuation of a rush to judgment on the part of prosecutors or the disallowance of evidence that might indicate innocence.

Summary

This chapter provided an overview of the study. This study included conducting interviews to understand the experiences of exonerees through their stories using narrative analysis. The participants were asked to tell their stories from the point of arrest through their freedom in their own words and offer insight into why and how changes are needed to make specific and expedient improvements in the way we handle claims of innocence, court processes, jury instructions, and procedures.

In Chapter 2, I explore the literature regarding the issue of wrongful conviction and exonerees' experiences, and in Chapter 3, I describe the methodology of my study, the interviews with exonerees, and both the individual and collective experiences they related. I discuss their credibility and transferability regarding both the individual and collective experiences.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

CRI is the situation whereby a witness of one race/ethnicity is different from the race of the person they are asked to identify (Ferguson, 2020; Ryan, 2017) It occurs most often when one of the parties in a criminal investigation is a witness and is asked to identify the alleged perpetrator of a crime. Over 30 years of studies revealed that people had a greater ability for memory of someone of their own race as opposed to someone of a different race. These studies have resounding implications for cases of mistaken identity that involve cross racial misidentification in which suspected or convicted individuals are later exonerated (Arizpe et al., 2016; Dodson & Dobolyi, 2016; Ferguson, 2020; Ryan, 2015; Vitriol et al., 2019).

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore the experience of crosscultural misidentification, wrongful conviction, exoneration, and return to society in formerly incarcerated men. A narrative approach was chosen to understand the experience and its meaning, and this study will focus on (a) the turning points of the wrongful conviction and exoneration experience and (b) the meaning of coping during and after incarceration

A review of the literature has shown that despite the long history of wrongful convictions, insufficient measures have been taken to reduce the risk (Norris & Mullinex, 2019; Zalman, 2017). The major sources of wrongful convictions today are misidentification, particularly cross-racial misidentification, often involving the weapon focus effect (Gross et al., 2017; The Innocence Project, 2020). There is a tremendous body of research on cross-racial misidentification, and recent studies continue to

document that people are better at recognizing members of their own race or ethnicity than non-group members in court and legal cases (Michel et al., 2010; Vingilis-Jaremko, et al., 2020). Weapon focus effect (Kleider-Offutt et al., 2017; Pickel & Sneyd, 2018), memory (Wixted, 2018), mugshot exposure (Oberest, 2015; The Innocence Project, 2020), and police suggestibility also interact with CRI, making the ability to judge evidence difficult and increasing the risk of convicting the innocent (Bjerk & Helland, 2018).

IBT is presented as the framework to understand the human process of being unconsciously influenced by implicit, socialized beliefs and judgments (Greenwald & Benaji, 2017). Applied to wrongful conviction and exoneration, IBT is a useful model for understanding how eyewitnesses can misidentify perpetrators and how jurors can misinterpret testimony and evidence (Clemons, 2014; Levinson et al., 2019). This theory was used to guide the development of the interview guide and analysis plan.

In the following sections, I review the literature in detail, beginning with the search strategy used to comprehensively review research, policy, and law on this topic. This is followed by a brief history of wrongful convictions, presented to give the reader a sense of the breadth and depth of the problem. I then review the literature on CRI and the myriad of influences that lead to wrongful conviction. In the next section, I present the theoretical framework and how it relates to the focus of the study. I close with a detailed analysis of the research on exoneration.

Literature Search Strategy

Quantitative and qualitative articles, books, and other published documents were reviewed for this research. Comments from key informants and authors (i.e., representatives of the Exonerated Nation and other nonprofits) were also utilized. Relevant criminal justice journals were included in this literature search from various online library databases such as Sage, Proquest, PsychARTICLES, and PsychINFO. Additionally, sociological databases such as SocIndex were utilized to find scholarly articles related to the research topic under study.

The following terms were used in the search process: eyewitness identification, mistaken identity, cross-racial and cross-ethnic, weapon effect, mandated jury instructions, states' attitudes toward jury instructions, memory and police influences, exonerated experiences including compensation, testimonials, and the Innocence Project.

History of Wrongful Convictions

Prior to the Salem witch trials in colonial Massachusetts beginning in 1692, it was documented that individuals, mostly women, were burned at the stake based on someone merely pointing a finger accusing the defendant of being a witch. The number of wrongful convictions during the Salem witch trials remains unknown, but oral history alleged 20 people were executed between 1692 and 1693 (Turvey, 2011).

According to Borchard (1913), there were at least 13 documentable wrongful convictions since that time. For example, Dominic Daley and James Halligan were wrongly executed in 1805 and were later exonerated of their crimes (Gross & Shaffer, 2012). In 1843, John Gordon was executed in Rhode Island in 1843 and was later

exonerated (Gross & Shaffer, 2012). Other wrongful convictions and later legally exonerated cases include Chief Leschi in 1855, Chipita Rodriguez in 1863, William Jackson Marion in 1872, and Oscar Neebe in 1886.

Borchard's (1913) article was the first to openly discuss the issue of wrongful conviction. He also described European approaches to unjust convictions. He stated that those persons arrested for a crime in another country were still under the guidelines and laws of their home country, and if wrongfully convicted should be compensated for their suffering. He was also an adamant advocate for justice reform, particularly in the field of wrongfully convicted. Following Borchard's publication, more articles emerged as the subject of wrongful convictions gained traction; however, it was not until 1987 when Bedau and Radelet (1987) reviewed 350 cases of published wrongful convictions that the severity of this issue became undeniably apparent (Gould & Leo, 2010). As other publications followed, the public became more aware of the number of wrongful convictions, as well as the root causes of these errors. A common theme in the public outcry was the need for rectifying the wrongs that were created, including innocent defendants' pleas for DNA testing if there was evidence from the crime scene. DNA testing is still not used in all cases automatically, but rather tested selectively. Public opinion resulted in a more vocal stance about the wrongful convictions. Early on it was approached differently and resulted in the implications for change in attitude and policy dependent upon the way it was put forth (Norris & Mullinex, 2019). Media and films about real-life wrongful convictions have pulled the public into the courtroom and added the concept of the lay juror in a sense to the public vociferous response to some people

being wrongly incarcerated (Zalman, 2017). Empirical studies of exoneration have indicated that the wrongful conviction rates in homicide, death sentences, and serious sexual conduct cases range from 2% to 5% (Gross et al., 2014; Roman et al., 2012; Zalman, 2017).

Cross-Racial Misidentification Wrongful Conviction

Cross-racial misidentification (CRI, also known as cross racial recognition [CRE]) is one of the leading factors contributing to wrongful convictions. CRI is understood as the inclination for people to recognize faces of their own cultural or ethnic group more accurately than those of other ethnic groups (Scheck et al., 2000; The Innocence Project, 2018, 2020). In cases where the alleged suspect is of one culture/ethnic group and the eyewitness to the crime is of another culture or ethnic group, the risk of wrongful conviction increases substantially (The Innocence Project, 2018). Support for this observation has come from DNA evidence used in revisiting cases where imprisoned persons were able to bring their cases back to trial. DNA evidence was introduced in 1987, and first used 1989 to exonerate a convicted felon. Since then, many nonprofit organizations (e.g., the Innocence Project, discussed later in this review) have brought cases back for retrial.

Bjerk and Helland (2018) conducted a thorough review and analysis of DNA exonerations by race of the eyewitnesses and convicted individuals and found that the wrongful conviction rate for rape is substantially higher among Black convicts compared to White convicts, and this racial discrepancy in wrongful conviction rates is substantially larger for rape than for murder. Early studies have demonstrated that when an individual

was not familiar with people of another race or culture, there was a tendency to pick out a predominant feature based on a preconceived perception of what the alleged perpetrator was supposed to have to bolster their identification validity (Grey, 1999). At the same time, the New Jersey Supreme Court began telling juries that CRI was not scientifically reliable (Waldmeir, 1999). Racism was not the foremost reason for misidentification, but rather unfamiliarity, which played a much greater role. With a preponderance of evidence and judicial restrictions, courts have continued to rely on the unreliable evidence of cross racial eyewitnesses. In 2006, the California Commission on the Fair Administration of Justice offered the statistics of the Innocence Project showing that now more than 77% of the inmates cleared since 1989 were convicted based on erroneous eyewitness identification. In 1975, the rate was only 75%. It appeared that the more reliance on cross-racial eyewitness identification that was acceptable without question, the greater the degree of mistaken identity. In a 2005 study at the University of Michigan Law School, researchers found that mistaken identity was involved in the wrongful conviction of 88% of rape and sexual assault cases with a disproportionate level of convictions involving White victims misidentifying Black alleged perpetrators (Weinstein, 2006).

Gross et al. (2017) provided a summative document and registry describing the scope of the wrongful conviction problem. They indicated that that while only 13% of the U.S. population is Black, innocent Black people are 7 times more likely to be convicted of murder than are innocent White people. Black prisoners who are convicted of murder are about 50% more likely to be innocent than other convicted murderers. The convictions that led to murder exonerations were 22% more likely to include misconduct

by police officers with Black defendants than White defendants. The average Black exoneree spent 3 years longer in prison before release than White murder exonerees, and those sentenced to death spent 4 years longer than their White counterparts.

Gross et al. (2017) pointed out that many of the convictions of Black murder exonerees were affected by a wide range of racial discriminations, ranging from unconscious bias and institutional discrimination to explicit racism. They suggested that most wrongful convictions are never discovered; there is no direct evidence or statistical measurement of all convictions of innocent murder defendants. Half of all defendants exonerated for murder are Black (380/762) as of 2017; 40% of defendants imprisoned for murder are Black but account for 50% of murder exonerations. This figure includes 53% of those who were sentenced to death. This demonstrates that Black individuals are more often investigated, arrested, and then convicted of murder than are White individuals. The problem here is that innocent Black people also are suspected and convicted despite being factually innocent.

Black convicts are three and a half times more likely to be innocent of a conviction of sexual assault (Gross et al., 2017). Although assaults on White women by Black men are not the majority of assault charges in the United States, statistically they account for half of the sexual assault identifications due to the unreliability of cross-racial eyewitness identification. Despite the fact that eyewitness misidentifications are not responsible for sexual assault exonerations, some misidentifications originate due to racial bias and others were tainted by implicit bias, racially tainted official misconduct, and in some cases explicit racism.

Black assault exonerees receive much longer prison sentences than White exonerees and spent about 4.5 years longer in prison before exoneration, due to a greater resistance to exoneration (Gross et al., 2017). Although considerable research has been conducted on many factors that influence eyewitness accuracy (e.g., weapon focus effect, accuracy of memory, mugshot and composite drawing recognition), all of these factors have been shown to be influenced when CRI is present (Ferguson, 2020).

Theoretical Foundation

IBT was selected as the theoretical framework to guide the development of interview guide questions and data analysis plan (Holroyd et al., 2017; Levinson et al., 2019; Mahzarin et al., 2012; Maina et al., 2018). IBT describes the ways the human mind automatically manifests biases against disfavored groups (Brownstein, 2017; Levinson, et al., 2019). These biases envelop the way people unconsciously look at things including the fears, feelings perceptions and stereotypes that due to personal and social history and unconscious experiences that influence thinking and decision making (Bennett, 2010). In an incognizant manner, people possess implicit racial biases, which are often in contradiction to stated beliefs or evidence presented. It is also known as implicit social cognition (Devine et al., 2012; Greenwald & Kriegertt, 2006; Greenwald & Lai, 2019). Both implicit bias and implicit social cognition theories relate to race and how it is seen and consequentially how it impacts decisions. A bias, in and of itself, simply shows a preference for a thing without necessarily a truth to the perception. Bias involves the prejudging of a person based on their status of belonging to a particular group, without looking at or knowing that person's actual behavior or conduct (Goodman, 2018).

Implicit bias refers to the unconscious bias and the behavior that often ensues as a result. It can include implicit memory, implicit perceptions, implicit attitudes, implicit stereotypes, implicit self-esteem, and implicit self-esteem and even implicit self-confidence (Greenwald & Kriegertt, 2006).

In their history of implicit bias, Greenwald and Banaji (2017) found that unconscious processes are the foundation of conscious opinions and decisions and are not always resulting in a logical decision or opinion and is often unable to be substantiated. They suggested that prior experiences, while not conscious, tend to shape later judgments without the person being aware of it. Greenwald and Banaji also suggested that the concept of unconscious, while being categorized at different levels did not describe either implicit memory or implicit social cognition, and that the past experiences of individual people create a different perception in each person and that is what produces individual attitudes, stereotypical connections to the same stimuli. Vredeveldt et al. (2017) studied the influence of co-witnesses' discussion on recall of mutually experienced events. They found that collaboration between pairs of witnesses factually reduced errors in identification, but that the collaboration really was reliant upon how the memories were presented in the witness pairs' discussions. When the collaboration primarily utilized elaboration of facts, the recall was able to bring forth more event details. Collaboration was shown to correct memory errors when the witnesses collaborated on memory of the same event seen at the same time by correcting each other's errors. This is contrary to some police policy of not permitting the witnesses to discuss the events as they saw them with each other, and yet permitted in some other jurisdictions. Hope et al. (2013) found

that discussions after the event had no actual impact on the veracity of the final statements.

Research on Implicit Bias

The theory of implicit bias is contrary to the common understanding of social behavior that people are guided in their beliefs and their conscious intentions when they act. Numerous scholars have demonstrated that implicit racial biases operate at every level of the criminal justice system and negatively impact people of color (Banks et al., 2006; Clemons, 2014; Tonry, 2010). For example, IBT is useful as a way to consider how jurors view defendants and present evidence. If jurors have preconceived notions of who criminals are and/or what criminals do, their implicit bias can affect their interpretation of testimony and evidence (Levinson et al., 2019). For example, Levinson used the Implicit Association Test (IAT) to test eight hypotheses about racial discrimination against Black men and criminal law guilty verdicts. The guilty/not guilty IAT version study asked participants to group together photos of Black and White men with words representing the verdicts guilty and not guilty and measured their reaction times in milliseconds. They also varied the individuals by their political beliefs (i.e., conservative, neutral and liberal). Eight major findings are summarized here:

- Participants were faster to categorize Black faces with retributive words (e.g., "payback") and White faces with "mercy" words.
- 2. Jurors who were qualified to support the death penalty showed higher levels of implicit Black retribution bias than participants who did not support.

- 3. These same jurors were more punitive, more retributive, and less merciful than jurors who would not convict a defendant if the death penalty was an option.
- 4. The stronger the implicit bias, the more retributive the punishment and the more likely the participants would convict a defendant if the death penalty was an option.
- "Priming" (including Black-sounding names in a press release) was not significant.
- 6. Race-retribution implicit bias was most predictive of harsher punishments.
- 7. Political self-identification was strongly related to implicit bias.
- 8. Participants holding conservative ideologies held stronger retributive punishment philosophies and were less likely to support mercy-based philosophies.

In sum, the results indicated that race and retribution were basically inseparable, as the participants were unable to separate the concepts of retribution with Blacks, and leniency with Whites.

Another example of how implicit racial bias operates in the judgement of Black suspects is demonstrated in the research on colorism. Colorism is defined as discrimination based on skin tone, darkness, or lightness (Sanders 2011; The Sentencing Project 2005; Viglione et al., 2011). Boppre and Harmon (2017) utilized the Chain Theory, where the first link of the chain is the media, public perceptions and policymakers who create a, "perfect storm" (p. 407), that fosters the law-and-order

movement; the second link of the chain reflected partisan political affiliation concepts of achieving justice and equity both for the public at large and for individuals, suspects, victims, and witnesses, and is regulated by laws and procedure. They studied sentencing disparities and sentencing reforms of women of color between 1983-2008 across 40 states. Findings continued to reflect great disparities in the treatment and sentencing between Black and White women, with Black women being admitted into the system and getting significantly longer sentences for 85 defined crimes (Boppre & Harmon, 2017).

Viglione et al. (2011) studied the impact of lighter versus darker skin tones on sentences handed out to women of color in the criminal justice system. Findings from their study of over 12,000 women in North Carolina between 1995 and 2009 showed that Black women with lighter skin received more lenient sentences and served less time behind bars. In a more recent study by Eberhardt (2020), research demonstrated that police officers are more likely to identify Black faces as criminal than White faces. Furthermore, offenders who committed murder and had stereotypical Black features of wide noses and thicker lips were more often sentenced to death than those with less stereotypical Black features.

Implicit biases are pervasive and malleable (Banks et al., 2006; Bennett et al., 2017; Clemons, 2014; Devine et al., 2012; Tonry, 2010). For example, Devine et al. (2012), studied habit breaking interventions that would lower implicit race bias. Devine et al.'s argument was that the choice to not continue to be prejudice had to rely on two factors; first that the people had to be aware of their biases and concerned about the consequences of their biases. The longitudinal study results indicated that 12 weeks of

training that combined awareness and concern about the effects of bias, reduced bias in persons that were aware of biases. Further, the training involved strategies for recognizing triggers and replacing biased responses with more objective responses. This illuminates the point of malleability, i.e., that implicit bias can be influenced by social circumstances.

Levinson (2006) examined how implicit bias also affects the way that both judges and juries are affected by evidence in trial cases. Levinson utilized an empirical study offering participants something to read, and then within a few minutes asked them to recall what they had read. The results demonstrated that the participants both remembered and incorrectly recalled with a racial bias. Levinson (2007) found that participants who read the story with a Black character remembered the story much more harshly than those who read the same set of facts with a White character.

I used IBT to develop interview guide questions for the participants to understand their experience of implicit bias, and its role in the misidentification process by eyewitnesses as well as the jurors. This framework was also used to guide the analysis plan to explore commonalities and differences in the experience of implicit bias its role in their wrongful conviction.

Cross-Racial Identification

Cross Racial Identification (CRI, also known as cross racial recognition [CRE]) is one of the leading factors contributing to wrongful convictions; here eyewitness identification testimony is relied on by either the judge, jury, or both. CRE is understood as the inclination for people to recognize faces of their own cultural or ethnic group more

accurately than those of other ethnic groups. Reardon and Fisher (2011) examined whether there was a difference in a juror's ability to delineate between accurate and inaccurate witnesses. It relies on accuracy of memory, which can be imprecise and inaccurate. Own race bias (ORB) played a large role in the inability to accurately identify people of a different race. Own race bias has been described as the tendency to be more accurate with the identification of someone of one's own race than a person of another race (Ryan 2015).

ORB has been perpetuated as well by the court's opinion that jurors are aware of their own biases. This makes race discrimination issues difficult to address and work through because it is not acknowledged even when courts validate that the general population does not understand or even recognize the subconscious biases of CRI.

Delozier and Rhodes (2015) conducted a two-part study. Part one utilized 40 White college students and part two included 59 diverse students. The researchers gave point values to facial features using a value-based paradigm. The higher the value attributed to faces the more important the face was to learn. Results showed that there was higher recognition for high-value own race (but not for other races) than for lower value other races. It was less important to participants to recognize the face of someone from another race.

In a two-part study (n = 170 in part one, and n = 250 in part two), Wiese et al. (2014) used event related potential (ERP) to study ORB. The results revealed that while both groups showed a significant ORB by putting those of the other races into an outgroup memory classification. This finding was repeated in part two and was thought to

demonstrate a "tagging" of other-race faces as a form of salience bias, where individuals focus on things that are more prominent and ignore those that are more familiar or usual. With cross racial-based facial identification, there was a tendency to believe all people of another race looked alike to White eyewitnesses (Rutledge, 2001). Depending upon one's race, Americans hold differing views on the criminal justice system; White Americans viewed the system as fair and generally believed if someone was arrested and subsequently convicted that individual almost certainly deserved adjudication.

Black Americans and Americans of color for the most part see the system as biased and unfair. Racial minorities believed they were severely discriminated against, unfairly targeted for arrest and conviction, and received disproportionate sentences compared to White peers (Hurwitz & Peffley, 2010). When people were shown photo lineups with photos presented all at once rather than individually, witnesses were more likely to pick an individual closest in appearance to the perpetrator rather than the actual offender (Innocence Project, 2000). When a witness was not familiar with a different racial group, it was more difficult for individuals to identify facial features under positive circumstances than under stressful conditions. With that in mind, jurors in a New York State murder trial in 1999 were given special instructions regarding potential problems with CRI previously recognized by the United States Supreme Court (Gray, 1999). The court limited the jury instructions to only when identification was a critical point, and there was no other evidence to support that identification. The court acknowledged that ordinary people have difficulty with CRI under general and normal circumstances and that this difficulty was so common that it had become the source of jokes and clichés

(Gray, 1999). However, the court was not prepared to generalize the ruling to all cases and left it up to the discretion of the trial judge, who may or may not be biased. More recent studies continue to support the presence of ORB, i.e., that people are better recognizing people of their group than nongroup members (Michel et al., 2010; Vingilis-Jaremko et al., 2020).

The style of questioning plays a significant role in the accuracy of eyewitness identification, which was something directly related to police suggestibility. Leading, suggestive, and direct questions resulted in the eyewitness wanting to perform accurately for the police and therefore created a positive interpersonal relationship (Samaha, 1999). It was further stated that police should not necessarily accept eyewitness testimony without corroborating evidence directly after the event itself as there was or could have been a tremendous level of emotionality influencing that decision. Eyewitness accuracy was considered tenuous and as such, police were to only consider it a part of the entire evidence that related to an accused's innocence or guilt (Samaha, 1999).

Other studies involving eye tracking have been done regarding cross race versus same-race bias recognition. Josephson and Holmes (2014) utilized 40 university students from a racially diverse area of the United States where the students of various ages, balanced races and genders: 10 Black men, 10 Black women, 10 White men, and 10 White women who would have regular encounters with people of other races. They utilized a crime video where two versions of the film were identical except for the actor, whose features were characterized as "medium" with no outstanding typical stereotypical

features. The results of their studies showed that there were differences between what White participants saw and what Blacks saw when viewing same-race photo lineups.

Another existing factor that could potentially influence eyewitness identification is a category of people medically defined as having prosopagnosia (the inability to recognize even own-race faces). Wan et al. (2017) studied 550 participants using the Cambridge Face Memory Test for diagnosing face blindness. Results showed that the rate of other-race face blindness was minor but suggested that even everyday social or workplace interactions with people of other races can be seriously impacted by the ORB in some.

Other Factors that Contribute to Misidentification

The Weapon Focus Effect

There are many factors that influence the accuracy of eyewitness testimony. One of the more well-studied areas has examined the effects of the presence of a weapon during a witnessed crime scene. Loftus et al. (1987) suggested that victims of crime, when faced with a weapon, concentrated more on the fear of the weapon than on the facial features or clothing of the perpetrator. Erickson et al. (2014) referred to this as the weapon-focus effect (WFE), and suggested that victims of crime, when faced with a weapon, concentrated more on the fear of the weapon than on the facial features or clothing of the perpetrator (Saunders, 2009; Singal 2014). This was particularly important when the alleged perpetrator was of another race or culture. WFE is also mitigated by the victim's expectation of a weapon. This has been described as the action-specific perception hypothesis (Witt, 2011) which asserts that attention is paid, when something

(like a bat) is perceived as unusual when it is present in an unusual environment (in a day care setting versus a baseball field). When demonstrating this with a gun, more attention was paid to a gun in someone's hand, as opposed to a holstered gun. Witt (2011) also found that people spent more time looking at the gun, rather than at the face of the person holding the gun.

This phenomenon was clearly demonstrated by Fawcett et al. (2016), where it was shown in laboratory experiments that the sudden appearance of a weapon diminishes the accuracy subsequently of the identification of both the perpetrator and the actual events of the circumstances (Fawcett et al., 2013; Jacob & Storer, 2016; Pickel, 2015; Steblay, 1992). The WFE may be further exacerbated in witness identification when there is significant time between the event and the test (test delay) and the length of time the victim is exposed to the weapon itself (exposure duration). It was found that the less the expectation of a weapon and the time duration of exposure to the weapon, the greater the difference in accurate description. Fawcett et al. (2013, 2016) argued that WFE diminished eyewitness identification when tested with lineups, and that there were variables-system or estimator variables that further reduced accurate eyewitness identification. Some scholars suggested that eyewitness confidence was a moderate to strong indicator of accuracy, especially under controlled circumstances (Brewer & Wells, 2006; Wixted, 2016; Wixted et al., 2015).

The experimental mock line-up study by Carlson et al. (2016) showed that eyewitness testimony should be given limited consideration in certain police lineup selections, as well as in trial situations. The confidence-accuracy (CA), where a weapon

was utilized, minimized the accuracy of the ability of a witness to remember the perpetrator's face, but where the lineup was immediate and the CA was extremely high (90%-100%), the identification was likely to be accurate. The researchers found that WPE was influenced by the confidence in the accuracy of participants' line-up identification. Low confidence made the WPE more pronounced, high confidence reduced the WPE and increased accuracy of identification (Carlson et al., 2016). Perpetrator distinctiveness is another variable in the WFE. Scars, moles, acne, or anything seen as unusual on the face of the alleged perpetrator stood to diminish or even nullify the WFE. Carlson and Carslon (2012) conducted a study of 600 undergraduate psychology students that contained mostly White students in their early 20s in which 60%-70% were women. Mock crime videos were recorded and shown; different points of view were utilized where the face initially was not shown. In one set of views, there appears to be nothing unusual about the perpetrators face, and in the second set of videos he appears to have a large "N" stretching across his entire right cheek. In all videos, the perpetrators time of exposure is the same; roughly 8 seconds which includes 2-3 seconds for the assault. Four different mug shot lineups were prepared, and before selecting the accompanying mug shots, and having taken a mug shot of the "alleged" perpetrator with no added features, four different lineups were presented: (1) perpetrator present with no lineup member having the distinctive feature on his face, (2) perpetrator absent with no one having the feature on his face, (3) perpetrator present with all lineup members having the same feature on their face, and (4) a perpetrator-absent lineup with all members having the feature on their face. It was a three (no weapon, beer bottle, or shotgun) by

two (distinctive feature or not) by two (perpetrator -present or perpetrator absent line-up) factorial design. Carlson and Carlson (2012) found that the WFE could be reduced if the perpetrator had something as distinctive marking on his face, a scar, a tattoo, or a birthmark.

Race has also been identified as a factor in WFE. Pickel and Sneyd (2018) investigated to what extent the weapon effect was altered if the presumed perpetrator was Black. They compared the existence of weapon on the memory of a Black witness versus a White witness. If one is more affected by the concept of unusual objects influencing accuracy of memory than the concept of a Black man having a gun, the weapon would not necessarily be considered an unusual object. They found that when the Black man was wearing clothing familiarly identified with Black men, the WFE became insignificant (Pickel & Sneyd, 2018). The researchers concluded that seeing a Black man with a gun automatically brought up a stereotypic concept that reduced the sense of unusualness regarding the weapon and allowed for a better memory of more accurate eyewitness identification. However, this study did not consider the possibility of other confounding variables such as age, lighting, sobriety, and others.

Another important factor in this phenomenon is the result of either physiological or emotional arousal due to a narrowing of the attentional width and breadth of the witness, especially if the witness was the victim as well (Erickson et al., 2014; Fawcett et al., 2013). This might occur when two people are being victimized simultaneously and each is dealing with trying to remember the specific details while dealing with the WFE. Erickson et al. (2014) study of the WFE utilized a simulated crime event that offered a

normal, novel, and threatening object. The experiment manipulated the timing of the weapon so that it was visible before, after, and during the time that the victim's face was visible. Target-present and target-absent lineups and retrospective queries were given. The results showed that both the novel object and the weapon resulted in increased mistaken identifications in target-absent lineups.

Hope et al. (2013) studied the implication of a gun versus other unusual articles presented by a perpetrator to examine accuracy of eyewitness identification. In utilizing an anti-saccade gap-overlap paradigm, where the participants were offered other distracting items such as a pocket watch or tomato, it was found that the mere presence of a gun was not found to be more engaging by the participant than the pocket watch or the tomato. The scholars concluded that the context in which the object appeared in addition to how threatening the object may have influenced the WFE.

A study by Erickson et al. (2014), in which manipulated timing of the presentation of the weapon were used, found that there was a much greater WFE when the person and the weapon were presented at the same time, but not the same when the weapon was visible before or after the face. Carlson et al. (2016) further examined WFE unusualness hypothesis and added that exposure time of the incident itself, contributed to both the accuracy and confidence of the eyewitness. The studies utilized samples that were heterogenous in both ethnicity and gender. They examined the WFE in conditions both with and without a weapon, and with short and longer, times of the event. When the exposure time was shorter and there was a weapon brandished, accurate recall of the facial features of the perpetrator was far less accurate than when there was no weapon,

and the time difference was longer, 3 seconds compared to 10 seconds. Erikson et al. (2014), further examined WFE unusualness hypothesis for the first time, and tested accuracy of memory in four different scenarios: a handgun, a distinctive object, a typical object and action. First, the perpetrator was seated in an office setting, stapling papers with a black stapler. In the second scene, a typical object was used as a weapon (the perpetrator stood up and hit a participant with the stapler). In the third scene, an atypical action, such as playing with a child's stuffed animal and standing up to hand it to the participant was shown. The fourth scene involved holding a handgun and pointing as a weapon. Erikson and his colleagues found that the fourth scenario (threat of a weapon) caused a less remembering of other items in the scene, as compared to the first three scenarios.

WFE and Cross-Racial Misidentification

Several studies have examined the relationship between race and WFE (Skorinko & Spellman, 2013; Smalarz et al., 2016). Seeing a Black man with a weapon in typical Black man's clothing, WFE was significantly reduced due to a stereotypical linking of Black men and crime, which reduced the unusualness of the weapon. Even people who are not actually racially prejudiced behave as if they are, by displaying the shooter bias and most studies offered that the effect occurred even if participants were just aware that the racial stereotype existed (Cox et al., 2014; Mekawi & Breslin, 2015), and most studies offered that the effect occurred even if participants were just aware that the racial stereotype existed (Kleider-Offutt et al., 2017; Pickel & Sneyd, 2018).

Memory

The reconfiguration of memory has been commonly recognized phenomenon since long before the degree of attention to the inaccuracies of eyewitness testimony became of great importance in its inaccuracy. Munsterberg (1908) showed the effect of time between eye witnessing the event and when questioned about it on the stand much later at trial. Bartlett (1932) demonstrated that memory is not static like a photograph of any given event. Instead, memories are reconfigured in three specific ways: (a) memories became shortened with time, (b) specific minute important details became lost or muted, and (c) personal bias changed the initial memory that may not have been correct in the initial representation, or biases influence both the verbal and visual areas. In his first known study, Bartlett utilized British subjects' recollections of Native American stories to show that relatively unimportant abstract issues were recalled as specific. Eyewitnesses will form a picture the individual believed to have remembered as an occurrence. Since memory is not static and it tends to change in that it becomes shorter, details become lost, and personal beliefs or biases influence in both the verbal and visual areas. Eyewitnesses will form a picture the individual believed to have remembered as an occurrence.

Memory is unreliable (Wells & Olson 2003; Wixted, 2018). Forensic scientific research has more often specifically addressed the perpetrator alone rather than the totality of the variables combined that made up the crime. Variables such as cross racial recognition ability, weapon focus, distance, and lighting were important aspects of memory in forensic settings (Sharps et al., 2003; Villegas et al., 2005). Even under the most ideal circumstances of lighting and exposure time, memory was terrible. Memory

was shown to be distorted in many well-known cases. For example, in the case regarding the Washington sniper, the vehicle was misidentified in color by several witnesses (Blades, 2005). Memory has been studied in both the laboratory and in realistic situations (Sharp et al., 2007). In almost all cases, it was revealed that memory in crime situations was poor for validating either the perpetrator's specific identifiable characteristics or the details of the crime event itself, but not both. Garrett (2012) proposed that memory is unreliable and should be tested prior to allowing a witness to testify.

Smalarz and Wells (2014) stated that memory for faces were further distorted when the face was that of someone of a culture differing from that of the eyewitness. Even within a relatively short passage of time, memory could be reconfigured from what the eyewitness remembered, such as seeing shades of brown skin changing in color degree or height and hair type that was misremembered. Smalarz and Wells (2014) studied memory impairment in 145 participants to see whether confirming postidentification feedback following a mistaken identification damages the eyewitness memory for the original culprit. They also tested whether similarity between the original perpetrator and the wrongly identified perpetrator played a role. Study results showed that once an eyewitness had identified a perpetrator and subsequently given positive feedback about identification, it distorted the eyewitness' memory regarding other aspects of memory for details related to the event (Smalarz & Wells, 2014). Even more so, it reinforced the confabulated and reconfigured memories with relation to other details such as color of vehicles, and clothing (Hanba & Zaragoza, 2007; Zaragoza et al., 2001). The distortion went as far as to show that when paired with an individual witness who

actually saw an accomplice, the eyewitness also claimed to actually have seen the accomplice when in fact they had not (Dixon & Menon, 2005; Wright et al., 2000).

When juries rely on eyewitnesses, and ultimately convict based on personal belief in its accuracy, the entire criminal justice court system is compromised, as is the concept of the promise of a fair evidentiary hearing on which juries must make a life-determining decision. Thomas et al. (2020) studied the relationship between retrieval and memory performance in older adults who had age-related stereotypes with regard to race and criminality. Researchers found that when older participants were faced with a threatening stereotype, their memory was less accurate than younger participants. While aging was thought to play a significant role in memory, this is not necessarily the case. Tessoulin et al. (2020) tested 104 younger adults between the ages of 18-30 years of age, and 104 older adults between the ages of 70-95 years of age. The results of this study did not show a significantly greater misinformation effect in older adults. However, race effect was not a part of their test.

In 2020, California passed statutes that included the change that the witness, "shall" as opposed to "may," provide a full description of the alleged perpetrator, in as close time to the incident as possible. Most recently, Laney and Loftus (2021) discussed memory biases where not only can people make errors in remembering specific small details, but they can also misremember whole events that did not actually happen. This can hold true with the memory of events they may have in fact witnessed. The reconfiguration of events that took place recently, in our time at Wounded Knee in South Dakota, where the eyewitness accusing Leonard Peltier of a crime others have testified

was committed by a White man, a federal agent, is another example of racism and reconfiguration of the truth to satisfy the stereotypicality of the White majority.

Choice blindness for identification exists when an eyewitness cannot detect when an original target person has been exchanged for another target person. (Sagana et al., 2018). The witness was often prompted to confabulate introspective arguments that explained why the original perpetrator was selected and again when the witness' mind changed (Sagana et al., 2014). About 39% of all manipulations were not recognized by the person identifying the perpetrator for the second time when the perpetrator was someone different. Since this was proven to be a problem in cross-race identification, the reality that someone was mistakenly identified and then even a second person mistakenly identified was unacceptable.

Smalarz and Wells (2014) showed that once an eyewitness had identified a perpetrator and then was offered positive feedback about the identification, witness memory was distorted regarding other aspects of details related to the event. The feedback reinforced the confabulated and reconfigured memories with relation to other details such as color of vehicles and clothing (Hanba & Zaragoza, 2007; Zaragoza et al., 2001). The distortion went as far as to show that when paired with someone who saw an accomplice, the eyewitness also claimed to actually have seen the accomplice when in fact they did not (Wright et al., 2000). Sagana et al. (2014) studied what happened when someone identified an individual in a lineup, then the lineup administrator accidently wrote down the wrong name and/or number of the person selected. The witness then had to identify that same decision in court. The result often was that the eyewitness identified

the wrong person. When juries relied on eyewitnesses and ultimately convicted based on belief in witness accuracy, the entire criminal justice court system was compromised, as was the concept of the promise of a fair evidentiary hearing on which juries made life determining decisions.

Forced confabulation occurs when a witness mistakenly incorporated self-generated information into the event (Brown & Asp, 2017; Brown et al., 2018). Self-generated information is another concern for eyewitness accuracy and reliability (Pezdek et al., 2007). Self-generated information happens when the witness discussed the event with someone that was either there or not there. Information or questions exchanged during communication can result in idea interjection and/or questions and suggestions to the actual witness, making memories pliable and manipulated by others (Vredeveldt et al., 2017). Two major reasons were offered for changing of memories between witnesses, including collaborative recall of events and cross-cuing. When things were remembered in collaboration with others, memories were morphed to be less individualistic and included events that never even happened (Cochran et al., 2016; Loftus & Greenspan, 2017; Loftus & Pickrell, 1995)

Memory and Cross-Racial Misidentification

Memory of faces is even further distorted, particularly when the face is that of someone of a culture, race, or ethnicity, differing from that of the eyewitness (Dodson & Dobolyi, 2016). Even within a relatively short passage of time, memory reconfigures what the eyewitness remembers seeing. As an example, shades of brown skin changed color degrees, and height and hair types were not remembered accurately. Egan et al.

(2013) revealed that despite concepts that White witnesses might tend to be politically correct in their identifications, they were not While the latter study was done in the United Kingdom (UK) and demographics and political views were different, it evidenced that assumptions were not always accurate and did not always prevail. In identifying perpetrators without the mention of race it was found that it was not due to a need to seem race-blind, but rather a lack of knowledge as to how best to define that race. Tulles et al. (2014) also studied cross-race phenomenon in two different experiments. The first included self-paced examination, where the researchers' allowed participants to study faces for as long as they wanted. The second study focused on fixed-rate examination where the time for examination included the direction to individuate other-race faces. In the studies, it was revealed that time had no bearing on identification and that the amount of time witnesses used to see the face did not necessarily change the cross-race effect.

Police Suggestibility

Police suggestibility occurs when law enforcement implies or directly persuades a survivor into identifying an alleged perpetrator in a lineup, which often plays a considerable role in misidentification (Nirider et al., 2021). Leippe et al. (2009) conducted a study that demonstrated both biased instructions, and reinforcement of erroneous identifications raised the confidence level of assailant identification.

Confidence was shown to raise the level of eyewitness belief in personal accuracy, despite earlier proof in studies showing that confidence was only moderately related to actual accuracy and at times not at all (Bothwell et al., 1997; Leippe & Eisenstadt, 2007).

Emotion as a variable was previously manipulated in studies for the purpose of seeing how it related to positive identifications, even if the perpetrator identification was misplaced. It was shown that positive emotion somehow related to feelings of good moral character and therefore further resulted in feelings of helping others, which lastly, in turn, heightened positive emotions and reinforced eyewitness accuracy confidence level (Steblay, et al., 2013). In addition, studies previously revealed that post-event suggestions misled eyewitness accounts with particular respect to witnessed details (Loftus, 1975; Loftus et al., 1978; Pezdek, 1977). Once law enforcement was satisfied with responses from encouragement prompts and witnesses received positive feedback, the identifier became solidified in the identification (Berry, 2011). Between 1967 and 1977, the United States Supreme Court considered the range of the due process clause of the 14th Amendment regarding suggestive eyewitness identification evidence. The outcome of all cases reviewed left the standard question of whether the totality of the circumstances, the identification was reliable even though the confrontation procedure was suggestive (Berry, 2011).

When police suggestiveness played a key role in the identification process and reliability was compromised, the United States Supreme Court excluded suggestive identification evidence. When the suggestion was relayed that the perpetrator was in the lineup selection, the eyewitness tended to pick someone, even if unsure that the identified person was the perpetrator. North Carolina already maintained standards for photo lineups that disallow case-involved law enforcement from conducting a lineup California, Massachusetts, New Jersey, and Utah utilized some of these restrictions in specific cases

but have yet to implement an across-the-board policy. The latter continued to allow for influence and suggestibility, either consciously or unconsciously. The Innocence Project (2008) has further offered that there is no clear understanding of why the Caucasian race was not as able to identify minorities as it was their own race. In keeping with these concerns, Thompson (2012) posited there were three types of immediate unreliable witness situations that disproved the concept of beyond a reasonable doubt. Eyewitness identification testimony was particularly erroneous when it was cross-racial, or dubious at best, given numerous amounts of variables, all too often people are being convicted on the basis of a one-person testimony (Thompson, 2017).

Even the police practice of double-blind sequential lineups left the question of whether repeated lineups were of benefit. While double-blind was better than all else, it did not necessarily prevent police suggestibility. Previous data revealed that when people viewed lineups for a second time, there was a tendency to make more identification errors than when only participating in a single-selection lineup (Steblay et al., 2011). Even the idea of asking for a second look often offered the implication that the perpetrator was among the photographs, and that the witness had a somewhat moral or even legal obligation to point out that person. The question of not being sure or pointing out someone of similar appearance to the person remembered often encouraged law enforcement to prompt the witness to look again or ascertain certainty of familiarity of individuals in the lineup. The latter practice left witnesses the experience of the expectation of assisting the investigation by making an accurate identification of the suspect law enforcement believed were responsible (Eisen et al., 2018). In 2020,

California mandated through state statutes many changes in the identification and evidence collection of suspects. With regard to photo identifications (mug shots), they now have to be blind/double-blind administration, specific uniform witness instructions, proper fillers, witness confidence statements and full recording of the interrogation of homicide suspects as it takes place.

Mugshot Exposure

Mugshot exposure increases the misidentification of defendants. Mugshots are often taken at a time when hair, complexion, and other recognizable characteristics are different or altered. For instance, a definitive scar present on a current mugshot might not have been present on a former image. As described earlier, Carlson and Carslon (2012) found that mugshot identification reliability is influenced by facial attributes and presence of a weapon. Unreliability of mugshots and how witnesses can be influenced by personal and environmental factors has been studied extensively in earlier studies of sources of misidentification (Aaronson, 2008; Deffenbacher et al., 2006; Delgado, 2010; Lindsay et al., 2008; Loftus & Harley, 2005; McGuire et al., 2015; Oberest, 2015; Pezdek et al., 2007; Roper & Shewan, 2010; Steblay et al., 2011; Winter & Kline, 1998).

More recently, the technology of composite drawings that are used to identify suspects has also been a subject of study. Eyewitnesses are asked to describe facial and other features in attempts to create an image of sufficient likeness to assist in suspect identification. Sporer et al. (2001) conducted a comprehensive review of research and found (1) that the research quality across studies was insufficient for meta-analysis; and (2) that even the better-quality studies showed weak positive or no effects for improved

accurate identification. They made many suggestions for improving study designs to make better simulations of real-world circumstances while controlling for confounding variables, but declined to advocate for the value of mug shots or composites as reliable methods.

Mugshot Exposure and Cross-Racial Misidentification

When people were shown photo lineups with photos presented all at once rather than individually, witnesses were more likely to pick an individual closest in appearance to the perpetrator rather than the actual offender (Innocence Project, 2018). Malpass and Kravitz (1969) studied this phenomenon and found that White subjects made two to three times the number of erroneous identifications when trying to identify Black faces as when identifying perpetrators of their own race. This was known as "own race" effect. In a study done by Fitzgerald (1997) with the inclusion of Asian subjects, findings revealed that minorities more accurately identified an Asian confederate, and nonminorities were more accurate at identifying the Asian and White subjects, but both parties were least accurate when identifying Black subjects.

Research on Exoneration

Definition and Background

Exoneration legally refers to a court order where someone convicted of a crime is later proven to be innocent and is released from prison (NRE, 2018). There are factual exonerations where the convicted person has been proven to not be the person that committed the crime for which they had been found guilty of and committed to a prison term for any unspecified number of years. There is also a technical exoneration when a

person has been technically harmed in the court process and so harmed that trying them again would be unconstitutional (Leo, 2016). According to the NRE (2018) latest report, the total number of defendants later exonerated for crimes they did not commit totaled 1,639 years lost just last year alone. The total number of years lost to exonerated, wrongly convicted exceeded 20,000 in September of 2018 and has since passed 21,000 (NRE, n.d.). It was also reported by the NRE that Blacks suffer more false confessions when they represent only 13% of the U.S. population but constitute roughly 47% of the exonerated population (Gilna, 2018). The report also revealed that Blacks who were wrongly convicted served 3 years more than Whites before being exonerated and released. Furthermore, NRE research has shown that innocent Black people are about seven times more likely to be convicted of murder than innocent White people, even more so if convicted of killing a White person. Black prisoners serving time for sexual assault are three and a half times more likely to be innocent than a White sexual assault prisoner (NRE, n.d.). The four states leading in wrongful convictions and exonerations out of all the United States in 2018 were Texas (363), Illinois (303). New York (281), and California (205; NRE, n.d.).

Faison and Smalarz (2020) discovered that exoneration and release following years of dealing with wrongful incarceration presents a plethora of more unexpected concerns that involve both the released prisoner, their families, and the society they return to. Despite what the public may believe, more often than not, exonerees are often offered less resources than the released rightfully convicted prisoners. They reported on the exonerees' experiences, describing how many exonerees are release directly from

court, having nothing more than the prison attire they appeared in court with. They may have had little or no time to arrange housing, may have no family that either live in that same city, are willing to take them back in, or even have enough room for them to be there to begin with. Most exonerees are not offered temporary housing, job training or placement, health insurance, drug rehabilitation services, or very importantly, mental health services. Exonerees may also display signs of psychological trauma more than anticipated such as hyperarousal, hopelessness, intrusive thoughts, poor abilities to socialize, isolation, self-destructive coping mechanisms, moodiness, and anxiety disorders. Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) is common in exonerees (Faison & Smalarz, 2020).

Coping With Wrongful Conviction

Being factually innocent and learning to cope with incarceration under those circumstances is a difficult task. Coping is simply the way an innocent person convicted of a crime they did not commit manages to maintain some level of functioning on a daily basis. DeShay (2016) conducted interviews with 23 exonerated individuals from Dallas County and found that different people used various means of coping, positive and negative, and individuals opting for a positive attitude somehow managed to adapt to the situation at hand and tended to direct energies on the problem at hand, and emotions. Exonerees tended to focus on the situation and formulate actions that potentiated resolutions. Exonerees adopting negative positions utilized denial, isolation, and withdrew from the outside world previously left behind (DeShay, 2016). The loss of

families, employment, and careers, not being able to watch children and grandchildren grow up, and absence from family events was traumatizing beyond description.

Compounding the latter was the death of a loved one and not being able to show innocence, or not being able to say goodbye or even attend the funeral. Coping skills vary individually, but exonerees stated that one's faith and spirituality levels seem to be the one most important coping mechanism. DeShay (2016) also found that post-exoneration, participants described a second coping mechanism of meeting with others who experienced the same situation and openly discussing experiences, along with a third mechanism of withdrawing and isolating.

Post-Exoneration Challenges

Post release psychological problems include drug abuse, associating and maintaining relationships outside the prison, due to fear and having been in a precarious environment for so long (Alexander-Block, et al., 2020). Others stayed close to home out of fear of being falsely accused of a crime again, and it has been documented that some others even maintained a cell like room where everything was in arms reach. There is research depicting clinical and consequential or post exoneration reoffending (Campbell & Denov, 2004; Grounds, 2004; Schlosberg et al., 2014; Westervelt & Cook, 2009). The research study of Schlosberg et al. (2014) found that there was a strong correlation between failure to expunge the wrongful conviction was a predictor of post exoneration offending. Furthermore, those with prior convictions before the wrongful conviction showed a greater propensity for reoffending than those without prior criminal records. A study conducted by Clow and Leach (2013) showed that exonerees with a history of false

confession or misidentified were offered more sympathy than others, but neither group received more government financial assistance or other resources.

Post-Exoneration Stigma

There is a plethora of research regarding the stigma that came with being exonerated from a wrongful conviction. It was something that tarnishes the person's identity and place in society. Consequently, this stigma reduces the availability of opportunities for exonerees and diminishes the chances for life successes (Goffman, 1963). How the public viewed wrongful convictions and ultimately labeled exonerated persons certainly impacted not only the actual integration but rippled into quality of life and opportunities for future success. Exonerees have been viewed as not necessarily innocent but that they "beat the system," and the stigma attached to those exonerated after wrongful conviction often had to do with the type of crime attached to the conviction (Rudolph, 2004; Scherr, 2020). Interestingly, when the public has been interviewed with regard to how they feel about exonerees, they believe that exonerees are stigmatized by the public but believe that they themselves feel no animosity towards exonerees. Even more complex are the findings by Scherr et al. (2020) who conducted an experiment comparing people reading stories about White or Black male exonerees. The researchers found that White exonerees were more likely to be considered guilty and provided with counseling; Black exonerees who were convicted of stereotypic-consistent crimes such as assault rape and robbery were more likely to be considered innocent.

Post-Exoneration Legal and Financial Relief

The legal resource of the exonerated suing for damages in civil court existed, but the process was long and arduous. It was often too scary a journey for those having been exonerated and having no access to the lawyers who could assist in the process. In 2015, an exoneree, Obie Anthony was sentenced to life without parole for a murder he did not commit when he was 19 years old. Seventeen years later he was exonerated, dedicated his life to helping other exonerees who were returning to society and was instrumental in the passage if AB672 which requires the California Department of Corrections to assist exonerees with transitional services including housing mental health treatment and job training. After he won a lawsuit in the state of California for his wrongful conviction, and then worked for the passage of AB672, now known as "Obie's Law," he founded the organization The Exonerated Nation. Obie's Law requires that the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation and the California Department of Motor Vehicles ensure that all eligible inmates released from prison in California have valid identification cards. This allowed for former inmates to gain an identification other than a prison ID card not associated with incarceration status. Anthony also created the Exonerated Nation, a group of exonerees that assist freed persons with housing vouchers, mental health and drug counseling services, job training and placement, cash stipends, and counseling and legal services. These initiatives addressed all areas that prove most difficult for exonerees to navigate.

In 2016, the Innocence Project modeled legislation for states' uniformity of ways to compensate newly freed exonerees, including payments of a minimum of \$64,000 per

year of wrongful incarceration, another \$64,000 for every year on death row, and \$32,000 per year on parole or on a sex offender registry. Unfortunately, standardized equal compensation never became law, and even today the discrepancies exist and are wide. For example, Connecticut maximum compensation per year is calculated based on anywhere between 75%-100% of the median Connecticut housed income, and an immediate subsistence payout for short term needs such as housing and clothing, and long-term access to job training, education, and physical and mental health care. Washington, D.C. offers \$200,000 for each year of incarceration, including a prorated amount for partial years served, \$40,000 for each year served on parole, probation, supervised release of as a registered sex offender Iowa offers \$50/day and attorney's fees. Montana offers no monetary compensation but provides educational aid expenses for tuition, fees, books, board and a room at any MT community college, unit of the MT university system or accredited MT tribally controlled community college. New Hampshire has a \$20,000 cap, WV offers fair and reasonable damages without any specified amount; and NY has a no limit compensation (Compensation Statutes: A National Overview, n.d.).

In the Innocence Project's model, making a false confession or pleading guilty would not disqualify the exoneree from receiving any monies or assistance. From 1989 to date, The Registry of Exonerations reported a total of 2810 exonerations: Blacks, 1,397, White, 1009, Hispanic, 334, and others, 65. As of 2020, there was a new record of 120 exonerations across the United States in that year alone.

To date, 375 people have been exonerated by DNA alone. The crimes themselves were as varied as the people exonerated including 54 for homicide, 24 for sexual assault, 15 for other violent crimes such as arson, robbery and attempted murder, and 73 for nonviolent crimes (NRE, 2020). Conversely, the details about what exonerees were forced to endure while knowing and maintaining innocence has been left out of the picture. Oftentimes, the person had limited or no record of prior contact with law enforcement, and certainly not any negative interactions.

Individuals were taken into custody, treated at times in an abusive way, disbelieved, and subjected to being searched, told to spread buttocks, had gloved fingers search inside the mouth, and possibly treated with both disdain and even hatred depending upon the crime itself. Coping with the latter was different depending on the individual, but on occasion the person went through intense emotional changes, such as guilt for the issues imposed on an inmate's family through the arrest and conviction (Westerveldt & Cook, 2010). There was also contradictory evidence suggesting that dysfunctional families played a part, especially when the exoneree had little coping skills or support to address the trauma that had been sustained (Grella et al., 2013).

There is little research available on the coping mechanisms of exonerees, but when Madschi et al. (2015) looked at older inmates in terms of stress and trauma and discovered that social interaction with families and spirituality were the main tools former inmates utilized. The same human being can lose a job, family, home, and personal belongings while simultaneously becoming disoriented from the simple removal of day-to-day normalcy, again, while simultaneously factually innocent (Westerveldt &

Cook, 2010). Often exonerees were people with positive beliefs in the judicial system, and that an arrestee did something to deserve that treatment. The psychological effects of this experience were far greater for most than simply the loss of material goods, such as homes, personal possessions, and careers.

In a Canadian study of 18, it was found that there were 14 cases meeting the criteria for personality changes following experience of wrongful conviction; and 12 met the criteria for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (Grounds, 2004). Most described to the interviewer suffering with mood and anxiety disorders A more recent study revealed that participants also reported major psychological and social adjustment problems within the families (Grounds, 2016) The symptoms were similar to those described by servicemembers returning from war Following exoneration, oftentimes, exonerees dealt with the paranoia of being returned to custody due to eyewitness misidentification, a confidential informant, hidden testimony, false confessions, and government misconduct that may or may not have occurred in their original trial (Gross & Schaffe 2012; Huff et al., 1986; Scheck et al, 2000).

Reentry can be even further differentiated by the attitudes of whom they are returning, social supports, and the community (Alward et al., 2020). The study provided information about the way the exonerated individual changed from within and how family emotional support greatly reduced the degree of post-exoneration substance abuse as well as recidivism and returning to prison. Sells et al. (2020) discovered that a community that offered peer mentoring was influential in reducing the difficulties often encountered on those formerly incarcerated returning citizens. Other studies showed that

Black people were more likely to be wrongfully convicted of murder and assault than any other race (Chokshi, 2017). It was found that while 40% of Blacks were convicted of murder, 50% were wrongfully convicted while White individuals accounted for 36% of wrongfully convicted people. This was determined in looking at almost 2,000 exonerations nationally.

Another factor raised by Chokshi's (2017) study was that while a larger murder rate existed within the Black community, it did not justify the explanation of the difference between wrongful conviction and exonerations racially This study also revealed that while racial bias was involved, only 15% of murders committed by Black people involved a White victim, yet 31% of Blacks later found innocent of that crime were initially convicted of killing White people. There were certainly other possibilities such as perjury, evidence mishandling, and witness tampering that played a part. Further findings suggested that White people were more apt to misidentify Black people when presented with other Black individuals than when presented with other races. This was an example of cross-racial misidentification and certainly explained the finding of eyewitness errors in 79% of sexual assault cases involving wrongfully convicted Black defendants while only 51% accountable for White defendants (Innocence Project, 2017). Other issues that contributed to the psychological, emotional, and spiritual damage sustained included innocent Black people staying in prison for a much longer period of time than innocent Whites (NRE, 2017).

While becoming a lawyer was difficult for the average student of law, it was a closed option for convicted felons in California. Exonerees have now pursued and been

accepted into the bar to enable the cohort to right the wrongs experienced (Carter, 2015) California supported a program that allowed formerly incarcerated persons as well as those exonerated to work under the supervision of an attorney after having some legal coursework background for 3 years, and subsequently take the bar exam to be licensed as a practicing attorney.

There is an additional difference between exonerees beside those mentioned above and that is those exonerated after being on death row. While they may have experienced many of the same obstacles as those who were imprisoned in the general population, there is an additional segregation and isolation that exists for those single celled, for an extended period of time.

Factors That Influence the Likelihood of Exoneration

In comparison to the depth of information regarding factors of cross-cultural eyewitness misidentification and DNA evidence, there is less existing literature regarding the experiences of individuals who have been exonerated of a wrongful conviction after years of incarceration. The DNA revolution as related by Medwed (2017) and Laporte (2017) point to the systemic flaws in the criminal justice system and the resulting high numbers of wrongful convictions that had taken place and were continuing to take place. Gould (2013) studied the causes of wrongful convictions for decades and offered specific causes for what he termed "near misses"; factors that were not present in cases that led to a wrongful conviction. Gould and his colleagues established seven major predictors of wrongful convictions and ultimately exonerations. They are age and race of the defendant and prior convictions, intentional and nonintentional misidentification. Over three-

quarters of known exonerations, often in cases of rape involve eyewitness misidentification lying by a nonwitness, a family defense witness, forensic errors, weak prosecution case, the role of the judge and how factors interact, for example, tunnel vision (Garret, 2011; Gross & Schaffer, 2012). Other factors involved can include false confessions, and perjured informant testimony.

In over three-quarters of known exonerations of rape involve eyewitness misidentification (Garret, 2011; Gross & Schaffer, 2012). Since 1987, studies of erroneous prosecutions have shown that as high as 25% involved false convictions that as well turn out to be reasons for exoneration. Tunnel vision, which is more common that recognized, has been described as when either police or prosecutors select on a particular suspect and then present partial or specific evidence solely that will build their case for conviction while ignoring or not presenting the evidence that points away from guilt (Findley & Scott 2006). This often causes the wrong suspect to be convicted and going through a lengthy process to exoneration.

Perjures informant testimony is also known as a snitch offering information usually in exchange for relief of some benefit to them. The Innocence Project offered that 15% of erroneous convictions that were overturned through DNA evidence, including perjured informant testimony (Innocence Project, 2012). Forensic error usually involves testing errors, possibly using unvalidated techniques and poor testimony involving a lab technician. The Innocence Project states that forensic error was the basis for 50% of DNA exonerations nationwide.

Prosecutorial error often includes the Brady violation. The brady violation is defined as what happens when prosecutors fail to disclose evidence materially favorable to the accused. These finding after conviction demand the reversal of a conviction particularly if it is deemed that the evidence that could have been considered favorable to the convicted would reasonably have been shown to alter the entire case in such a light that undermines the confidence in the verdict (Gross & Shaffer 2012). Bowman and

Gould's (2020) found that case related factors (like prosecutorial misconduct) were the strongest predictors of prosecutors' willingness to take on exoneration cases. A Columbia University study of capital appeals found that a weak prosecution representation or inadequate defense lawyer is the greatest cause of the erroneous conviction of criminal defendants in capital cases over a 23-year period, which was the biggest contributing factor of wrongful convictions (Liebman et al., 2000). Other issues include race of the defendant, the media, state jurisdiction, and age. There are also what are considered "near misses" in wrongful convictions and this occurs when a factually innocent defendant is indicted but released before being convicted on the basis of his innocence. These are not included in the examination of actual wrongful convictions and resulting exonerations.

Post-Exoneration Experience

There are fewer programs offered to exonerees compared to those released on parole. As described earlier, there are no programs or restitutions unless they are pursued via lawsuit, which is time-consuming. And there are caps on the amount of renumeration available to an exoneree regardless of how much time was spent incarcerated. Keith

(2016) showed that Black exonerees fared well in comparison to their White counterparts in terms of compensation due to statutes aimed at denying monetary restitution. In Louisiana, for example, despite being wrongly convicted and incarcerated, once exonerated, no compensation was provided if the exoneree knew anything about the crime prior to its commission. Eligibility in Texas law requires that a wrongfully convicted prisoner later exonerated be free of any prior convictions to receive the \$80,000 for each year of wrongful incarceration. Wyoming does not have compensation for wrongly convicted and incarcerated exonerees. Florida forces the exonerated to turn to the legislature to advocate for a private bill for compensation.

Goldberg et al. (2019) described the barriers that exonerees face regarding compensation, including private bills, litigation, and compensation statutes. Exonerees trying to utilize the private bill route face the need of providing a higher degree of proof, immunity of state personnel, and face utilizing a time consuming and costly process which most may have the former but not the latter ability to provide. If the exoneree decides to take the litigation route, they have first to decide who they can actually take the action against and often the very people that should be litigated against are protected by law under qualified immunity. Compensation statutes are only in 35 states at this point but as described in the Texas case, they vary and are discriminatory in nature. Nineteen states have no monetary compensation. Fourteen states offer some form of tuition or educational assistance, nine states offer assistance with medical expenses and 12 states offer counseling services. Some states stipulate that only those exonerates through DNA are eligible for any form of compensation. Even other states stipulate that denial is

deemed appropriate where the exonerated person was considered as having contributed to their wrongful convictions such as falsely confessed or pled guilty.

Ban the Box

Up until 2007, it was legal for employers to include on a job application a question about conviction of a crime. This question on the application was called "the box", and the subsequent legislation was named "Ban the Box". With the passing of Ban the Box legislation (BTB) (2007-2009), in several cities in California, and in several other states, it became illegal for a potential employer to question the criminal background of an applicant until an applicant was offered a position.

At that point, the employer can consider the relevancy of the crime to the position but revoking an offer due to criminality was itself a crime. For example, if someone applied for a bank teller's position and had been convicted of embezzlement, the employer had grounds for deciding against hiring that applicant in that position, but if the applicant had applied for a janitorial position, denying the applicant employment would not have been considered valid. Employment continued to be one of the greatest impediments to future success. While BTB reduced the challenge somewhat, the unemployment rate among exonerees continued to be a serious factor. Studies indicated that the inability to acquire a job often leads to recidivism or primary offending, particularly when exonerees had a previous history of criminal conviction (Schlosberg et al., 2014). Adapting to the new technology was a major obstacle for many exonerees. They had little or no connection to the fast pace of cell phones and computers; even ATM

machines may frighten them, and they may be too ashamed to ask for help, further isolating them from present day society.

The Innocence Project

The Innocence Project was founded in 1992 by Peter Nuefeld and Barry Scheck at Cardozo School of Law. It is a 501(c)(3) nonprofit legal organization with a focus on exonerating those prisoners who claim to have been wrongly convicted. Statistically it estimates that in the United States between 2.3% and 5% of all prisoners are innocent. It does this through DNA testing and reforms the criminal justice system to prevent future injustices (Innocence Project Archives). As of February 25, 2021, The Innocence Project has worked on 203 successful DNA-based exonerations alone. The Sentencing Project, created in the early 1980s was created to address racial disparities in the criminal justice system and works alongside with The Innocence Project. The Innocence Project had been responsible for some of the most progressive policies, statutes and mandated reforms related to exonerations as well. They added a section to the penal code that reformed and standardized eyewitness identification through SB 923; created SB1134 which required that new evidence be presented to the prosecution if it would have likely changed the outcome of the trial and acquitted the exoneree.

They created an act to amend section 1473 relating to criminal procedure which now allows wrongfully incarcerated individuals by allowing outdated expert testimonies on false evidence to overturn convictions if the expert recants their testimonies of it has later been determined the scientific research or technological advancements. What the public does not realize is that up to post convictions SB 651 and AB 1987, access to

evidence of innocence is greatly reduced. AB1987 once signed allowed prosecutors, judges, and government officials to offer access to discovery material post-conviction. The bill also requires trial counsel to retain a copy of client's files for the term of imprisonment where a person is convicted of a seriously or violent felony resulting in a sentence of 15 years or more.

In 2020, of the 2,535 exonerees identified by the NRE (n.d.), 49% are Black, 37% are White and 12% are Hispanic. This shows a total of 61% of those studied to be individuals of color; this does not include either Asians or those considered "others" (Pacific Islanders, those who identify Biracially or unknown). These initial three groups represent only 13%, 77%, and 18% of the population, respectively.

The returning citizens (exonerees) each have a very different experience depending upon the state that they live in (Faison & Smalarz 2020). Black exonerees are compensated less times and there are fewer statutes to assist them in the way the state frames their reasons for denying Black exonerees compensation (Keith, 2016). Initially upon release after being exonerated and after spending decades beyond bars, there are issues of mental health issues, relationship issues, and inability to sustain a steady income. There is often the consequence of social stigma making reintegration difficult (Goldberg et al., 2020), despite proof of actual, factual innocence; financial compensation varied from \$0 to lifetime stipends, medical care, and education (Scherr et al., 2018). Financial compensation, for example, can also depend upon whether one falsely confessed or pled guilty and for those having related prior felony convictions. Employment interviews with employers most often considered the exoneree as less

articulate, less intelligent, less competent, and less trustworthy and therefore would probably not hire them. It was also shown that the exoneree that received compensation from the state was viewed less negatively than those who were compensated (Faison & Smalarz, 2020). Compensation was also looked at as an apology by the state, an admission of guilt on the part of the state.

One other necessary point is that in some states for exonerees, because they are found factually innocent, they no longer qualify for the resources that are available to those on parole; often that means no housing, no medical, no employment opportunities. Returning exonerees may have been wrongly incarcerated for more than half their life before sufficient proof is shown to free them. Exonerees mental health can be seriously compromised (Alexander-Bloch et al., 2020). There is continued trauma and aftermath for death row exonerated prisoners, simply from just living on death row. The stigma attached to death row assignment and then having to rebuild their own identities, presents an even more difficult journey. They return to an unfamiliar society, families who grew up without them, possibly abandoned them finding it easier to believe they would never return. The exonerated death row survivor has for the most part lived in an isolated experience, often with disdain, neglect, and negative attitudes towards them for the most part consistently (Westerveldt & Cook 2018).

Kreggs's (2016) study revealed mental health issues and disconnection from families and a strain on such relationships upon return. Prison traumatizing especially when imprisoned for a crime not committed. There is fear and violence, overcrowding, abuse emotional withdrawal and suppression. As a result, many exonerees are used to

living in a state of hypervigilance, and a somewhat constant state of exploitive and violent surroundings. There is also at times a severe feeling of loss without necessarily being able to define it; loss of time, loss of family connection, wife, children, parents, siblings, and extended family who may have turned their backs. There is loss of a sense of self, and the person they used to be. There is a sense of shock and even unreality in the transition to the outside society. There may be a difficult in the ability to make decisions for themselves since they have spent often decades taking orders and directions from those in charge of their very existence (Keith, 2016; Westerveldt & Cook 2018). As of 2017, the 2,161 people that the Innocence project exonerated, roughly 70% of those exonerated were convicted based on eyewitness misidentification, and of those cases, four out of 10 involved CRI (Roth, 2010).

Summary and Conclusions

Current research and reporting have suggested that there are multiple factors that can result in wrongful convictions. These factors including cross-cultural eyewitness misidentification, the weapon effect, lighting, age, police, and prosecutorial misconduct (Scherr et al., 2018). Following exoneration exonerees cope with a myriad of obstacles and barriers (Goldberg et.al., 2020), and racial differences in compensation (Keith, 2016). Race and criminal history are two factors that play a definite role in people's ability to secure safe and adequate housing despite being exonerated (Zanella et al., 2018).

In sum, this review of literature has revealed that not only was eyewitness identification shown to be the least reliable scientific evidence, but that race plays a significant role in wrongful identification. Juries' willingness to believe or assume that

the victim or the witness was accurate opened the door for wrongful convictions and a plethora of innocent people incarcerated. In addition, lack of resources, lack of high-level legal assistance, and lack of financing to request and obtain expensive DNA and other testing of the evidence that existed, allowed men and women to languish, often forgotten, abandoned by both society and families for a myriad of reasons for decades. In the next chapter, I propose the research method to study the narratives of wrongful conviction, using the key concepts and theoretical framework to guide the investigation and analyses.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore the experience of cross-cultural misidentification, wrongful conviction, exoneration, and the return to society of formerly incarcerated men. A narrative approach was chosen to understand the experience and its meaning, and this study focused on the experience of cross-cultural misidentification, wrongful conviction, exoneration, and return to society in formerly incarcerated men. This chapter includes the description of the research design, the sample, criteria for selection, and procedures for data collection. Ethical issues are discussed, and informed consent and data storage plans are reviewed.

Research Design and Rationale

Research Questions

The primary research question was: What is the experience of cross-cultural misidentification, wrongful conviction, exoneration, and return to society in formerly incarcerated men? The subquestions that guided this inquiry include:

- 1. How does the narrative begin?
- 2. What were the turning points leading up to wrongful conviction?
- 3. Were there other influencing factors in the misidentification?
- 4. What is the meaning of cross-cultural misidentification?
- 5. What was daily life like for exonerees during their incarceration?
- 6. What was revealed during the process of exoneration?
- 7. What is the present moment of the narrative?

Phenomena of Interest

The phenomena of interest are cross-cultural misidentification, wrongful conviction, exoneration, and return to society. These concepts have been identified and discussed in Chapter 2. Cross-cultural misidentification is defined as the difficulty of recognizing faces belonging to people of a different race (Johnson & Holmes, 2011; SantBarket, 2019; Stepanova, 2013; Wong et al., 2020). Wrongful conviction is defined as convictions that can be classified under two conditions. In the first condition, the person is factually innocent of the charges, and in the second there were procedural errors that violated the convicted persons' rights (National Institute of Justice, n.d.). Exoneration is defined as absolving someone officially from blame; vindication (Department of Justice, 2019). Return to society is defined as the action of a freed prisoner returning to either the community he was from, or another community designated as mandatory (National Re-entry Resources Center, n.d.)

Tradition

I used narrative analysis, as this research approach allowed me to capture the stories of the participants as they went through the process from wrongful conviction to the present moment (Riessman, 2008). Narrative analysis is a way to interpret stories that people create. The purpose is to understand how people find meaning in their experiences. It is a way for researchers to analyze and then interpret the stories created and then be able to find a way to connect those stories to people who are often in their everyday lives. One of the advantages of narrative analysis is greater insight (Riessman, 2008). The narrator is urged to go into depth and therefore allows the researcher to

interpret the narrator's emotions, further allowing the reader to connect with the narrator (Baxter & Jack, 2008). In this study, I interviewed individuals who have experienced this phenomenon, and to hear their stories of how they individually responded and navigated through the experience from conviction through exoneration.

Role of the Researcher

The role of the researcher in qualitative studies is to recognize that one is the primary research tool and must therefore minimize biases about the subject matter and simply listen to and interpret the participants' related experiences (Patton, 2015). In this study, I developed the interview guide, collected, analyzed, and interpreted the data, and employed the necessary qualitative strategies to address the risks of bias. These are described in the procedures below.

Researcher Bias

I have been associated with many departments of corrections since 1966, so keeping my personal feelings aside a difficult task, and a difficult boundary to be on constant alert for (Chenail, 2011; Malone et al., 2014; Tufford & Newman, 2012). The participants were invited from The Exonerated Nation organization, and I had no prior connection to them in any capacity before the interview takes place. If any of the participants selected had a familiar name, the individual(s) would have been recused from the study.

I asked open-ended, not leading questions, and listened without commenting.

Malone et al. (2014) alleged that any stage of the process can see researcher bias. It was imperative for me to be hypervigilant regarding either interjecting a subjective opinion or

even offering simplistic hints of bias through sounds or emphasis on any particular response. One issue to be on the alert for was self-disclosure on my part. Self-disclosure could influence the objectivity of the participant (Audet & Everall, 2010) for several reasons; the need to please, the need to feel on equal footing with the researcher, or simply thinking there is a right or wrong answer. It is important for the researcher to be able to simply describe and not subjectively interpret the responses offered by the participants (Chan et al., 2013). I also employed strategies including audio recording and verbatim transcription of interviews, member checking, audit trails, and detailed documentation of the research process to minimize the influence of bias. These are further described in procedures sections.

Methodology

Participant Selection Logic

Target Group

Participants of the Exonerated Nation were the target group. This group was chosen because their characteristics are part of published record (i.e., the individuals have experienced the phenomenon of interest and there is known cultural diversity in membership).

Participant criteria for selection included having had the experience of being wrongly convicted based primarily on cross-cultural eyewitness misidentification and later exoneration. The participants were older than 18 years of age and out of prison.

Obie Anthony, the executive director of the Exonerated Nation, distributed flyers on my behalf describing the invitation to participate in the study, the procedures, and sample

criteria to persons meeting the target criteria; and they contacted me by email or telephone in order to "opt in."

Sampling Strategy

A homogenous sampling strategy (Patton, 2015) was used. This strategy assured that participants would meet the criteria for selection and have similar enough experiences to generate data for the analysis.

Sample Size and Saturation

Based on recommendations from the narrative methodological literature and qualitative sampling (Guest et al., 2006; Riessman, 2008), I planned to recruit 10 to 12 individuals so that saturation could be maximized. The resulting sample consisted of two participants. The challenges of recruiting and limitations of the small sample are discussed in Chapter 4.

Instrumentation

The data collection instrument was a semistructured interview guide (see Appendix) developed in concert with the narrative approach (Riessman, 2008). The intent was to ask the minimum number of questions to encourage the participate to share their story, the turning points, and the meaning of those experiences. Table 1 demonstrates the connection between the literature reviewed in Chapter 2 and the development of the interview guide questions. These questions were then reviewed by subject matter experts to enhance content validity and data sufficiency. It should be noted that there are culture-specific issues related solely to cross-cultural eyewitness misidentification. Consideration of both structural and blatant racism played a part in the data collection and analysis

process. Culture-specific issues came into play when implicit bias is revealed in participants' responses.

Table 1 *Key Concepts and Associated Literature*

| Key concept | Associated literature |
|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| Wrongful conviction | Bedau & Radelet, 1987 |
| | Gould & Leo, 2010 |
| | Leo, 2005 |
| | Risinger, 2007 |
| | Bennet, 2015 |
| | Wildemsan et al., 2011 |
| | Knuycky et al., 2017 |
| | Parkes & Cunliffe, 2015 |
| | Szyszko, 2018 |
| | Gross et al., 2017 |
| Cross-cultural misidentification | Meissner et al., 2005 |
| | Ryan, 2017 |
| | Hounhan et al., 2012 |
| | Flevaris & Chapman, 2015 |
| Eyewitness testimony | Neal et al., 2011 |
| J J | Carlson et al., 2016 |
| | Johnson et al., 2013 |
| Implicit bias | Brownstein, 2017 |
| • | Levinson et al., 2010 |
| | Bennet, 2010 |
| | Banks et al., 2006 |
| | Clemons, 2014 |
| | Tonry, 2010 |
| | Hinton, 2017 |
| | Maina et al., 2017 |
| | Holroyd et al., 2017 |
| | Levinson et al., 2019 |
| Exoneration | Arizpe et al., 2016 |
| | Dodson & Debolyi, 2016 |
| | Ryan, 2015 |
| | Sells et al., 2020 |
| | NRE; The Innocence Project, 2020 |
| | DiBello & O'Neil, 2020 |
| | Alexander, 2015 |
| | Gross et al., 2017 |
| | Geoff, 2016 |

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

Recruitment

The invitation to participate in the study was distributed in the office and online of the Exonerated Nation. The data were collected from exonerated formerly wrongly convicted men who are members of the Exonerated Nation who fit the study criteria for inclusion. Interested participants contacted me by phone or email. An initial conversation occurred to review the inclusion criterion and study procedures. If the participant met the criteria, the researcher scheduled a time for reviewing the informed consent process and the thank you gift. The agreement to the consent form was recorded prior to starting the interview.

Participation and Data Collection

The data were collected in one telephone interview. Each interview was scheduled to last 1–2 hours. The data was audio-recorded on the recording app NoNotes (https://www.nonotes.com) on my telephone. I did not offer the questions to the participants in advance because I wanted spontaneous responses, and not well-planned ones. Facetime and Zoom interviews were considered and utilized with permission whenever possible. For debriefing at the end of the interview, I thanked the participants for their time and asked if they had any questions of me. I let them know about receiving a thank-you gift and following up with a summary of their interview transcript for them to review, as well as the process for receiving a summary of the results.

Data Analysis Plan

The narrative interviews of wrongful conviction and exoneration were audio recorded and transcribed using Otter.ai (https://otter.ai), an online confidential recording and transcription service. I produced a summary of each transcript and sent it to the participants for review for accuracy and approval. Once the transcript was approved, I proceeded with hand coding using Microsoft Excel and Word. I also created an audit trail for each participant, to detail the process used to collect data, the data analysis itself, and the actual interpretation of the data. It further allowed me to provide my own thoughts about the coding, include a rationale for why I merged codes, and explain the themes and what they might signify.

I used Riessman's thematic analysis to guide the data analysis process to explore commonalities of themes across individual incidents. Thematic analysis was chosen because of (a) its focus on using prior theory to guide the analysis process (in this case IBT), (b) the ability to generate novel theories based on new ideas or concepts the participants generate, and (c) to produce a stable set of themes that are meaningful across cases (Riessman, 2008).

Issues of Trustworthiness

Credibility

Credibility, or internal validity, in this study was to be achieved through reflexivity, peer review, reliance on the narrative method, and reporting transparently on the data collection process. Saturation was attempted when I found that the answers to the questions posed did not converge on sufficient correspondence across participants. This

was supported by prolonged contact to build trust, and ability to reflect on if there were any distortions or discrepancies (Amin et al., 2020).

Reflexivity refers to the means of establishing trustworthiness, and I engaged in reflexive measures of audit trails and journaling to reduce the risk of inherent influences that I might have (Amin et al., 2020) I used the peer review process (committee and methodological experts) to review my work to assure the quality of the research (Davis et al., 2018). Finally, I utilized a well-regarded qualitative approach to ensure that the credibility of the process is organized and proceeds with transparent and well documented guidelines. All of these efforts will be employed to increase the credibility and meaningfulness of the results.

Transferability

Transferability refers to the degree to which the results of qualitative research can be generalized or transferred to other contexts or settings (Shenton, 2004). It is the responsibility of the one doing the generalizing by describing the research context and the assumption that were central to their research. As described, I was transparent in reporting the data collection and analysis process, and I presented results meaningfully, and with sufficient quotes from participants to substantiate my interpretations.

Dependability

Dependability is based on the assumption that replicability or repeatability is possible (Shenton, 2004). I interviewed the respondents from the Exonerated Nation that qualify under the criteria for inclusion, and the process utilized in these interviews should be, and will be exactly the same, for all participants. It was reported in detail to enable it

to be easily replicated. Further, I utilized a recognized procedure for analyzing and summarizing the results (Riessman, 2008).

Confirmability

Confirmability assumes that each researcher brings a unique perspective to the degree that the results can be confirmed or corroborated by others. It is considered as the degree of trust that the researcher has established in his/her findings (Shenton, 2004). Confirmability of participants' stories were supported through use of audio recordings and verbatim transcription, and through the use of member-checking (sending a summary of the transcript to participants to review and revise, if needed). Reflexivity, whereby my own preconceptions and biases could possibly influence decisions or even the actions taken in interpreting the responses (Patton, 2015) were minimized by crosschecking data analysis summaries with raw data.

Ethical Procedures

As described above, the Exonerated Nation was the conduit for distributing invitations to participants but will have no role in actual recruitment. Participants contacted me if they wished to participate. All participants were over 18, and not be under any institutional demands or parole or probation supervision. I therefore did not need special permission to interview them. They were all volunteers. Participants were treated with respect, appreciation and afforded total leeway to tell their story without coaching, cluing or hints as to a right or wrong answer.

Institutional Review Board approval was obtained prior to initiating data collection (Approval # 10-08-21-0125225. This study included specific criteria and

participants that volunteered were selected according to those criteria, and they were invited to participate and could have declined the invitation or not responded to it at all. Ethical concerns related to data collection/intervention activities (these could be including participants refusing participation or early withdrawals from the study and response to any predictable adverse events) and a plan to address them. In discussing this with the executive director of the nonprofit where participants were recruited, I had been advised this would not be a problem, that the exonerees are always anxious to discuss their story in the hopes that it will prevent the occurrence for someone else. Should any participant choose to leave in the middle of the study, their information was discarded, unless they had completed the vast majority, when it would be held, and then if they choose to reenter the project it might be considered.

The data collection process and resulting transcripts were kept confidential. Once the interview was completed, each file was identified with a pseudonym, and identifying information was kept in a separate locked file cabinet or in password protected files.

Transcript summaries were reviewed by participants to ensure that information they identify as too personal was removed. Findings were presented using pseudonyms only and presented results will minimize the risk of any one individual being identified.

Protections for confidential data (data storage procedures, data dissemination, who will have access to the data, and when data will be destroyed) was explained to each participant prior to the interview.

Summary

The purpose of this chapter was to describe the proposed approach and procedures for collecting and analyzing data to answer the research questions. A homogenous sampling strategy was used to select persons from the Exonerated Nation to participate in 1-to-2-hour interviews about their wrongful conviction and exoneration experience.

The data analysis plan was guided by Riessman's (2008) thematic analysis. Ethical procedures regarding contacting, interviewing and member checking are also described.

Chapter 4: Results

A narrative analysis was conducted to better understand and describe the experience of cross-cultural misidentification, wrongful conviction, exoneration, and return to society in formerly incarcerated men. I chose this approach to learn and understand the experience of wrongful conviction, incarceration, and exoneration from the perspective of those that actually lived it.

I begin this chapter with the restatement of the purpose of this study along with the type of research questions asked. I describe the participants and the setting the interviews were conducted in. I used semistructured open-ended questions with the participants. I present the data analysis procedures with their evidence of trustworthiness. I addition, I explain how the research questions related to the theory of implicit bias in terms of the participants' experience. In the end, I present a summary of the results.

Setting

The interviews were done over the telephone to mitigate any possible risks of COVID-19 illness or infection. The interviews were done in one session without interruption. At no time during the interview did either participant request to have any interruption or express any psychological or physical or emotional distress. After the interview, I spent a few minutes with the participants to ensure that they were undisturbed, and no one said that they were experiencing any sort of triggered emotional negative responses. No one suggested that they needed outside mental health support at the conclusion of the interview

Demographics

The two participants were both men of color. One was African American, and the other was Latinx. During our initial telephone conversation, I had determined that they met the criteria I was looking for. I recorded their ethnicity, age, experience of arrest and period of incarceration, eyewitness against them at trial, and experience of exoneration. They both offered that their exoneration was related to the true offender being identified and arrested, and the eyewitness stating that their identification had been affected by police activity. Both had eyewitnesses who positively identified them and were of an opposite cultural background. One participant stated that the witness attested that the officer advised them in advance that he (the participant) was already known as the perpetrator and had been identified previously. The other eyewitness said that the participant's picture had been "circled" prior being shown to the witness. The actual names of the participants were not revealed in the results in order to protect their identities as promised, and instead they are identified as P1 and P2.

Data Collection

Telephone interviews were conducted with the only two participants that responded to the invitation. Both had been incarcerated in California prisons for more than 1 year following a wrongful conviction based on the eyewitness identification of someone of a different ethnic background and culture. The participants had responded to the invitation flyer. Before I conducted the interviews, I read the informed consent to them over the phone, and they both states they agreed to the terms. The questions asked of them (see Appendix) were the same, and these open-ended questions were the basis for

their responses. The telephone interviews were conducted during November 2021, at the convenience of the participants. One interview lasted a little over 1 hour (P1), and the other interview with (P2) lasted 36 minutes. Neither participant voiced a need to stop the interview for any reason, each was only interviewed once, and both participants authorized the taping of their interview. The taping was done on an EvidaTM voice recording instrument. There was no need for any follow-up of the participant due to concerns (e.g., missing audio, faulty equipment) with the recording. I transcribed the interview into a Microsoft Word document and saved the data on a password-protected flash drive. The flash drive, along with the tape recordings were stored in a locked, fireproof filing cabinet in my home office, and I alone have access to the locked filing cabinet that is opened only with a numerical key code. Again, as previously stated there were no variations from the storage process as previously described in Chapter 3.

It should be noted that the original intent was to interview 10 to 12 exonerees. Despite concerted efforts to circulate the invitation repeated times on a national network of exonerees, there were no other responses. Data collection was called off due to constraints of time for completion of this project. The issue of insufficient saturation is discussed in Chapter 5 limitations.

Data Analysis

Both interviews were recorded and transcribed using Otter.ai. Reissman (2008) suggested that transcriptions are a secondary process to understand the language and semantics offered in the narratives. The process of thematic analysis relies greatly on the transcript dialogues enabling one to focus on "what was said" rather than how the story

was told (Reissman, 2008). I listened to the audio recording several times and reread the transcript equally as many times. I highlighted each area that I saw as relevant to the questions I was looking to answer. The significant response was highlighted in yellow. I examined each sentence with each being of having equal value. I eliminated all responses that I deemed unnecessary, thereby continuing with data analysis that was pertinent to the lived experience of each participant and the experiences of both in terms of similarities and differences. As a result of this first cycle process, I identified about 50 categories.

Following this, I created themes based on the categories which eliminated overlapping and/or repetition. I went back and compared the themes with each of the participants' specific statements to determine whether they were expressed specifically, or whether they were implied by the participants' account of that experience (see Table 2).

 Table 2

 Themes, Examples of Categories and Representative Quotes

| Theme | Examples of categories | Participant quote |
|----------------------------|--|--|
| How the arrest came about | P1: Six-pack line-up, his picture was already circled P2: "Snitching" | P1: "The police said they knew me from around the hood and I was the kinda guy that would do something like that." P2: "Man, the witness said they showed her a picture of me in a six pack and already had my picture circled and told her they already knew I was the perpetrator." "They said someone else told them I did it." |
| Race of the eyewitness | P1: race/Latinx, two witnesses, both White P2: race/Black, two witnesses, both Latinx | P1: "The eyewitness identification was flawed. Both women were White and when they were given the mug shots to look at, they couldn't identify anyone, but when they were later questioned by the police, the investigator said that I was being looked at for other crimes as well and they knew it was me" P2: "The witnesses were Latinx and they said they were 'sure' I was the one they saw." |
| Hearing the guilty verdict | P1: Devastated in disbelief P2: Gut punched and in disbelief as well | P1: "I thought they couldn't be serious, especially when I knew what kind of crime it was I was handsome and could get all the women I wanted." P2: "At that point there were so many stories out there and so many different people as witness characters that I knew it wasn't going to go well for us. I saw it coming." |
| Enduring prison life | P1: Prayers and acceptance P2: Upward educationally | P1: "Initially I vented my frustration out by using the boxing ring since I was already a boxer in the streets. I played a lot of basketball to work off my frustration. I enrolled in college courses and just did education and read and bided my time I didn't know what else to do, I tried finding an attorney to help me, but it wasn't happening." P2: "I spent every possible allowable time in the law library, writing to anyone and everyone that seemed like a possibility to get me out of prison." |

| Theme | Examples of categories | Participant quote |
|--------------------------------|---|--|
| How the exoneration came about | After parole Investigating another case DNA testing Perilously random | P1: "I was paroled first. I wasn't exonerated in prisonJust before I was supposed to leave, I 'caught a beef' protecting someone else and was sent to Pelican Bay where I wound up doing another few years Then got sent to the 'hole' in San Quentin where they tried to send me to immigration court, but I was able to bail out. I met a lawyer who was investigating the corruption of the DA's office and [they] took my case. It took 4 more years but came about." P2: "One of my codefendants wound up 'catching a murder beef' while we were in prison and his lawyer said they were reopening the case that we were already in prison on. When they did that and my DNA was finally tested the exoneration came about That's what this exoneration felt like, I got saved from drowning. And it's frickin' hellhole. Why it wasn't supposed to be Finally, somebody came by in a boat is see me waving my hands because I was going under, and they threw me a buoy." |
| How life is now | Family Career Community | P1: "Life is great for me now. I was trained in technology, and I have a great job. I have a wife and small children and the community knows my story and accepts me. I give talks to the kids in different schools and at different community events when asked." P2: "Life is really good. I moved out of state and opened my own nonprofit in the Midwest." I have a wonderful wife and small child, and my family is all around me." |

I found no discrepancies between the audio recordings and transcriptions. There were also no discrepancies between the narratives of both participants in relation to the questions being posed. There was remarkable consistency across both narratives. No discrepant cases or findings were revealed.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

As described in Chapter 3, strategies were proposed in order to maximize the trustworthiness of the procedures and results (Houghton et al., 2013; Shenton, 2004).

Overall, I was successful in implementing the strategies. However, because of the limited number of participants, the results are limited by the risk of less-than-optimal data or thematic saturation (Guest et al., 2006).

Credibility

To enhance credibility. I adhered to the data collection and analysis procedures of narrative analysis and used traditional methodological guidelines at each step. These were documented in Chapters 3 and 4. I sent each participant a summary of the interview and asked them to either validate or correct the report. Both participants agreed the summary was accurate.

Transferability

Despite the reality that qualitative studies are not usually generalizable to larger populations, it may facilitate a deeper understanding of the phenomenon by those who may read the studies and associate with or relate to the experiences expressed. By presenting an accurate representation of the data analytic process and results, it is hoped that others can somehow both identify with the experiences and look for ways and means

to correct them. In the discussion of the results, I used a surplus of quotes from transcripts to allow the reader the best possible understanding of participants' experience.

Dependability

The use of dependability in qualitative studies is to relate the context, research method and description of the participants to see whether the results would differ in similar research (Houghton et al., 2013). Describing the steps taken and the specificity of the participants qualifications prior to being accepted as participants was the approach used to strengthen the dependability of the study. I made no changes from the initial descriptions of the participants requirements for inclusion.

Confirmability

In a qualitative study, confirmability is based on the extent that the researcher can show that their findings were based on the interpretation of the data and not on the biases or perceptions of the researcher (Shenton, 2004). I took meticulous caution to establish confirmability in consideration of the insights and feelings and concerns of the participants as they expressed their responses to the questions posed to them. I had to ignore any biases, prior assumptions, and even preconceptions of the topic of the study and used a journal to report my feelings and interpretations as I proceeded through data collection and analysis.

Results

The researcher in a narrative study can gain an understanding of the experience solely by those who actually experienced it and their perceptions, their reality of it.

(Bjorklof et al, 2015). In the study, as the researcher, I was able to hear from the

participants themselves, their feelings and emotions and reactions at the time of each turn of events as they occurred. As in any qualitative study, the researcher begins to understand the actual lived experience of the participants through their actual reality (Bjorklof et al., 2015). In the present study, there were only two participants, and I was able to glean the results from limited sources. There were no discrepant cases or discrepant findings to discuss.

Thematic Results

The six themes that emerged were related to participant experiences of the arrest, the eyewitness race, hearing the guilty verdict, enduring prison life, the experience, how the exoneration came about, and the current life. As presented in Table 2, the narratives of the two participants had many similarities, so that the themes were of a single focus. For example, in Theme 1, both participants were arrested after the crime was committed, not at the scene of the crime. For Theme 2, they both suggested that the cause of the arrest was manufactured or manipulated because of their prior histories. Both believed that the mistake of the alleged eyewitness was due in part because of cross-racial misidentification as well as police interference. For Theme 3, hearing the guilty verdict was a stunning, unbelievable turn of events. For Theme 4, there were expressed differences, with P2 making it clear that his available time was spent building a case for his exoneration. For Theme 5, both participants were paroled, and the opportunity for exoneration occurred by fortuitous coincidence. For Theme 6, both participants described rebuilding their lives, with family, meaningful work, and community service.

Responding to the Research Questions

The primary research question was: What is the experience of cross-cultural misidentification, wrongful conviction, exoneration, and return to society in formerly incarcerated men? Wrongful conviction is the conviction and punishment of a person for a crime they did not commit. As a result of looking at this phenomenon, the research subquestions can be addressed as described in the following sections.

Subquestion 1: How Did the Narrative begin?

Both participants stated that they were not arrested at the scene of the crime, but rather somehow connected to the crime by both police implication and witnesses of another race. One participant learned that police had circled his picture in the six-pack line-up they showed the witness, and the other was implicated by police who claimed they knew him from the neighborhood and thought he was capable of committing the crime.

Subquestions 2–3: What Were the Turning Points Leading up to the Wrongful Conviction?

Both participants shared stories of the circumstances of the crime, the identification of witnesses, and – at this point – the misrepresentation of their participation began. For P1, a sex crime was committed, there was an eyewitness, and the police influenced the eyewitness by suggesting he was the likely suspect. For P2, a robbery was committed, there were two eyewitnesses, and the police influenced them by circling his picture to point out the likely suspect. There were no other influencing factors.

Subquestion 4: What is the Meaning of Cross-Cultural Misidentification?

Cross-cultural misidentification occurs when the witnesses identify an alleged perpetrator of a crime that is of a different race or culturally different from the person accused of the crime (The National Registry of Exoneration 2018). The inclusion criteria included cross-cultural identification, and in the sample, P1 was Latinx, whereas P2 was Black. In P1's case the witnesses were White, and in P2's case, the witnesses were Latinx. Although the stories varied in "how" the misidentification took place, both participants described their surprise and frustration with the wrongful identification which ultimately led to their wrongful conviction.

They also described the feelings experienced when found guilty. P1 said he felt as if he's been sucker punched in the gut. P2 said he felt as if, "this can't be true, this can't be really happening." Disbelief was the common denominator. Interestingly, initially they thought they had been targeted for their behavior regarding past criminal behavior/activity, but these events were never brought up.

Subquestion 5: What Was Daily Life Like During Incarceration?

Both participants described how they spent their time, which was divided between looking for legal opportunities for freedom, going to school, and biding time. For example, P1 stated,

I 'bided my time. I went to the boxing ring since I had been a boxer on the street.

It helped me to alleviate my frustration from being wrongly identified and then wrongly convicted. I played basketball a lot and the I signed up for college

courses trying to hope I could learn something so that if I ever got out, I would have some sort of career.

P2 spent most of his time in the law library writing to "everyone" to assist him with appeals. He stated,

I just read and wrote and really, in essence kept trying to reach out to any organization any law schools, and any lawyer I could get the name of to plead my case of wrongful conviction to. I just wanted someone to at least be willing to investigate it. I looked up various appeals and case laws that I thought might be applicable to me.

Subquestion 6: What Was Revealed During the Process of Exoneration?

In both participants cases, exoneration came after they had been paroled. In both cases, parole consisted of going before a panel of two to three retired or former corrections professionals (e.g., retired wardens, sheriffs) to present their case for returning to the community and their parole was granted. For P1, exoneration came about when their co-defendant "caught" another murder case from inside and the lawyers then reexamined the original convictions. P1 demanded DNA examination and to see the results. At that point, an attorney agreed to take his case and fight for exoneration. For P2, after parole he filed for exoneration, and in *pro per* (without assistance) fought for the DNA testing. Once the DNA was tested, it took 2 more years to get the results of the DNA and then an attorney took his case.

Thus, in this limited sample, the results suggested that while their experiences were different, the process was perilously random. While each person pursued efforts to appeal the verdict, the opportunity for appeal was unpredictable and unexpected.

Subquestion 7: What is the Present Moment of the Narrative?

Both participants reported that life was great for them at this point. Both stated they now, "had careers of their choice," and they both stated that, "they were married and had young children." P1 stated that, "his wife had been with him throughout his journey, and they were living the life they had talked about living whenever he came home." Both received financial compensation for their wrongful conviction, although one was much greater than the other's and that seems to have been based on the circumstances surrounded the way the wrongful convictions came about. This is consistent with earlier observations of how the process is fraught with coincidence and "pure good luck."

In sum, the results of this study revealed some interesting similarities and differences in the narratives of the participants. The interpretation of the results, the limitations, and suggestions for future research are presented in Chapter 5.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this study was to better understand the lived experience of wrongful conviction and exoneration after incarceration. I utilized Riessman's (2008) narrative method to learn and understand the experience from wrongful conviction through incarceration to final exoneration, from the perspectives of those who actually lived it.

As the researcher in this narrative study, I was able to glean a true understanding of the wrongfully convicted experience by providing a description of their reality directly from the person the during their entire time from arrest to exoneration. Due to having only two participants, this study was limited to their responses. However, several key findings emerged:

- Wrongful arrest was primarily due to police misconduct with the identifying witnesses.
- The misconduct was conducted in the context of cross-cultural eyewitness misidentification.
- The process of attaining support for re-evaluating evidence was a function of the persistence of the participants, combined with random, circumstantially fortuitous events.
- All participants in the present move describe fulfilling lives, including community activism to educate and help those who experience similar events.

Interpretation of Findings

Interpretation Relevant to Published Literature

Current research has suggested that there are multiple factors that can result in wrongful convictions. These factors including cross-cultural eyewitness misidentification, the weapon effect, lighting, age, police, and prosecutorial misconduct (Scherr et al., 2018). In this study, the results revealed that cross-cultural misidentification was the sole reason for the wrongful conviction.

As described in Chapter 2, the process of exoneration is most often long and arduous to achieve. Faison and Smarlarz (2020) and others (Alexander-Bloch et al., 2020; Alward et al., 2020; Goldberg et al.., 2019; Zanella et al., 2020) have pointed out that exonerees are often provided far less reentry resources if any at all, and many are released within hours of being told. They have little chance to find living arrangements, limited financial access to fulfil basic needs and limited resources to prepare for their life outside of prison. Paroled offenders are offered more services and resources than exonerees, and rarely if ever are offered mental health assistance after their ordeal. Exonerees often suffer from anxiety disorders, hopelessness, PTSD, self-isolation, and other psychological traumas (Faison & Smalarz, 2020; Goldberg et al., 2019). In my interviews with these two participants, both reported suffering from the traumatic events of wrongful conviction, imprisonment, and the challenges of the exoneration process. For example, P2 kept repeating "I could not see I way out, I could not see a wait out, I was hopeless."

The public regards exonerees differently, and often their innocence, despite being proven, is not believed by the public that considers (a) that police, judges, and

eyewitnesses do not make mistakes, and (b) that innocent men do not make deals or ever plead guilty to something they did not do (Alexander-Block, et al., 2020). Men of color are looked at even more harshly. Of the 2,535 exonerees recognized by the NRE, 49% are Black, 37% are White, and 12% are Hispanic (Alward, et al., 2020). In the Faison-Smalarz (2020) study, it was revealed that Black exonerees were stigmatized more harshly than White exonerees and were considered to be more aggressive, less deserving of reintegration assistance, and more likely to commit a crime post-exoneration than was the White exoneree.

As seen in Chapter 2, the stigma that is attached to being exonerated is well documented in the literature (Goffman, 1963; Zanella et al., 2020). For example, the Ban the Box (BTB) legislation passed in 2009 enabled more employment opportunities for exonerees by eliminating the question of prior arrests and convictions from the job application process until the employment was offered. Yet, it did not eliminate the difficulty of readjustment particularly because its national reach was extremely limited. In addition, studies indicated that the inability to obtain valid employment often led to reoffending, particularly when the wrongfully convicted had a prior history of criminal convictions (Schlosberg et al., 2014). Although the participants did not mention specific experiences of stigma in the process of re-building their lives, the current study reveals the perilously random nature of exonerees finding gainful employment, and how much personal initiative came into play. P1 trained in prison for work in technology and was hired by the person who trained him. P2 was in technology training during prison, applied for work while in prison, and was hired upon release. These participants' experiences are

considerably different than what is most often reported in the literature. This will be further discussed in recommendations for future research and professional applications.

The literature documents how, following exoneration, exonerees coped with a myriad of obstacles and barriers (Goldberg et.al., 2020), as well as racial differences in compensation (Keith, 2016). Race and criminal history are two factors that play a definite role in people's ability to secure safe and adequate housing despite being exonerated (Zanella et al., 2018). In this study, both participants transcended these obstacles and are currently leading successful and fulfilling lives. P1 shared that, "my life following exoneration was great." He also stated that he was, "well trained in technology and wound up almost immediately finding employment with a company I love." He further stated, "I was married and have children and they remained by my side throughout the ordeal, and they live today giving back." P2 decided to move out of state permanently, and stated, "I have had solid employment as well as a wonderful supportive wife and now 3-year-old son."

In sum, the literature tends to address the factors that contribute to wrongful conviction and the problems with the path to exoneration (Garrett, 2017, Goldberg et al., 2019; Norris et al., 2019). Although the results of this study are consistent with these factors (e.g., misidentification, police bias, absence of DNA testing), the participants' stories also illuminate unique experiences (e.g., family support, training during prison, the efforts to get DNA testing) as well as random coincidences (e.g., a co-defendant brought up on separate charges) that contributed to the path to exoneration.

Interpretation Relevant to IBT

The theoretical framework was IBT. Implicit bias asserts that there is an often unconscious, mental circumstance that plays heavily into one's perception of a situation (Amin, 2017; Brownstein, 2019; Devine et al., 2012; Frank, 2016; Greenwald & Banaji, 2017; Harty & Hermanson, 2020; Hinton, 2017; Holroyd et al., 2017; Kang et al., 2012; Maina et al., 2017; Van Cleve, 2016). This is often expressed in the way someone behaves in particular situations without even realizing why. For example, there is the scenario of the White woman who clutches her purse in the elevator when a casually dressed Black man or Black teenager gets on (Melamed et al., 2019). Melamed et al. (2019) called this status identification or status expectations, where one expects a certain behavior from a particular group based on specific characteristics such as race and age. In this study both sets of eyewitnesses were not of the same race as the accused. In addition, the police officers offered the eyewitnesses validation of their incorrect identification of the alleged criminals and provided inaccurate statements about the alleged perpetrators. All eyewitnesses were advised that the participants had been convicted of previous crimes.

Wrongful arrest statistically occurs more among men of color than in any other population (Goldstein, 2019; Keith, 2016; Melamed et al., 2019) and is far more difficult to undo because most wrongfully arrested men of color come from impoverished circumstances and are unable to get an attorney to represent them for pro-bono or low-bono. The NRE reported that innocent Black people are about 7 times more likely to be convicted of murder than innocent White people and thus account for a disproportionate

number of the share of exonerees. The study also noted that African Americans who were convicted and then exonerated of murder charges spent more than 4 years longer on death row and 3 years longer than individuals of other races for serving time in prison.

Furthermore, the NRE has revealed that police or prosecutorial misconduct has been the primary cause of 88.9% of death row exonerations. Jamala Rogers, a leading advocate for change in the exoneration system and founding member of Organization for Black Struggle (OBS), has suggested that what is needed is to recruit and retain more prosecutors of color (Jochnowitz & Kendall 2021; Oliver, 2020; Rogers, 2017). It is also more difficult in the sense that due to implicit bias and stereotyping of what a "criminal" should look like, the criminal justice system is less likely to give credibility to their claims of innocence (The Innocence Project 2020).

Limitations

The greatest limitation of this study was the inability to enroll more than two participants. Although the two had similar stories, they only represent two narratives. As the researcher, I made many attempts in the limited time to expand the participant pool but was not successful. The invitation was sent out on three separate occasions, and there was no greater response than what was already achieved. It is easy to speculate that either the exonerated men from the California prisons are reluctant to talk about their experiences; or that they may have lawsuits still in the courts. Perhaps the experiences are too painful to relive, and even the remote possibility that their current life circumstances are separate from their past lives. Thus, while the personal narratives of each participant were rich in detail, the limited number of participants reduces the certainty of saturation.

Another limitation of this study, ironically, is that both participants had the support of family and/or friends while incarcerated, were paroled prior to exoneration, had to sue for compensation, came out to no hostility from the community and began well-paying jobs leading to careers. The participants similarities were visible and made it difficult to discern what others would have, could have, or often did face. Both men won their lawsuits against the state for wrongful conviction and used that money to better themselves, their lives, and the people closest to them.

Recommendations for Future Research

The wheels of justice do not turn even slowly in terms of those who have sat and languished behind bars knowing and having some proof of their innocence; often times they do not see the wheel turn at all. The majority of the cases of wrongful convictions been borne by arrestees of color. The Innocence Project has offered that the two main reasons for wrongful conviction are cross-cultural eyewitness misidentification and DNA issues. Future research should document definitive processes for being able to prove innocence and include studies of court and criminal justice personnel to document the attitudes and beliefs about the inclusion of DNA testing in all felony cases.

It is also recommended that future researchers examine the quantitative relationship between implicit bias, status expectations, and perceptions of innocence and guilt in the conduct of felony crimes. As more data in national databases is being made available to examine cross-racial arrest eyewitness identification and wrongful conviction, these research questions can be investigated on national, regional and local levels (NRE, 2017, 2018, 2019).

Future research is encouraged to further explore the role of family support in the conviction and exoneration experience. It is possible that those who went through the horror of being wrongly convicted and came out with a family and support were more likely to participate in the research. Those with less successful outcomes might be harder to reach, and in more need of support or services.

Finally, it is also recommended that more research be done to illuminate the personal stories of the wrongfully convicted, both successes and failures. Further, stories of women of color have not been studied, and Garcia-Hallett (2019) and others have called for these stories to be made public in order for justice to be better served.

Implications

It is hoped that this one small study will be shared to encourage the following recommendations for social change. First, it is recommended that compensation be mandatory for anyone wrongfully convicted and then incarcerated as a standard practice across the board rather than decided by individual states. As it stands now, compensation ranges from zero in some states to unlimited in New York for example. Other states utilize farming costs and other specifics regarding the times spent wrongfully incarcerated. Prior convictions or contacts with the criminal justice system should have no bearing on compensation.

As this research and prior studies have indicated, the exoneration process takes a significant mental health toll on the individual and their families. This suggests that work be done to ensure that mental health services are mandatory and free for all wrongly convicted exonerees and available for their lifetime and for free. The participants in this

study were fortunate to be able to re-enter society and find meaningful and economically viable work to support their families. Education and retraining should be made available in any and every area desired by exonerees without repayment so that these individuals have opportunities to rebuild their lives.

Due to the way the law exists today, DNA is not necessarily tested in every case. There are men sitting on California's death row (e.g., Kevin Cooper) who have had to wait over 2 decades for testing and after being tested wait as much as 2 years for the results. It took both outgoing Governor Brown and incoming Governor Newsom to get his DNA tested, despite the fact that he was arrested and sentenced to death in 1985.

Conclusions

A lot has been researched, a lot has been written, but little or nothing has changed about the process of exoneration. Wrongful convictions have been and continue to be a blemish on the face of the criminal injustice system. Although there continue to be publications and presentations, and certainly posturing about what needs to be done, the wheels of justice do not turn even slowly in terms of those who have to sit and languish behind bars knowing and having some proof of their innocence. In the majority of these cases, the burden of proof is still on the shoulders of the arrestees of color. If innocence is established, it can still take weeks, months or even years for the wrongly imprisoned prisoner to be set free. As described in the Innocence Project, there are people sitting in prison who simply do not have the wherewithal to either hire an attorney or the knowledge of how to go about filing their own appeals.

I would also like this study to contribute to the prosecutorial side of convictions so that prosecutors will become more willing to explore each and every possibility that might prove innocence, and not rush to judgement to incarcerate innocent individuals on biased evidence or faulty eyewitness testimony alone. For me, what is even sadder is that unless something drastic happens and happens soon, unless laws are passed that demand equity for all, unless people's attitudes and biases become more compassionate and caring, unless the misconduct of prosecutors and lawyers and others who play into the misconduct are held fully accountable, years from now someone else will be sitting here writing another dissertation on the inequity of wrongful convictions and exonerations and little if anything will have changed.

References

- Aaronson, D. E. (2008). Cross-racial identification of defendants in criminal cases: A proposed model jury instruction. *Criminal Justice*, *23*(1), 4-12.
- Abshire, J., & Bornstein, B. H. (2003). Juror sensitivity to the cross-race effect. *Law and Human Behavior*, 27(5), 471-480. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1025481905861
- Alexander-Bloch, B., Miller, M. A., Zeringue, M. M., & Rubens, S. L. (2020). Mental health characteristics of exonerees: A preliminary exploration. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 26*(8), 768-775. https://doi.org/10.1080/1068316X2020.1733571
- Allhoff, F. (2018). Wrongful convictions, wrongful acquittals, and blackstone's ratio. *Austl. J. Leg. Phil.*, *43*, 39. https://files.allhoff.org/research/Blackstone's Ratio final.pdf
- Alward, L. M., Caudy, M. S., & Viglione, J. (2020). Assessing the relative influence of individual attitude, social support, and neighborhood context in reentry outcomes: What changes matter most? *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 47(11), 1487-1508. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854819901158
- Amin, M. E. K., Norgaard, L. S., Cavaco, A. M., Witry, M. J., Hillman, L., Cernasev, A., & Desselle, S. P. (2020). Establishing trustworthiness and authenticity in qualitative pharmacy research. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 16(10), 1472-1482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sapharm.2020.02.00
- Arizpe, J., Kravitz, D. J., Walsh, V., Yovel, G., & Baker, C. I., (2016) Differences in looking at own-and other-race faces are subtle and analysis-dependent: An account of discrepant reports. *PLoS One*, 11(2), 1-25.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0148253

- Asch, S. E. (1956). Studies of independence & conformity: A minority of one against a unanimous majority. *Psychological Monographs: General & Applied*, 70(9), 1-70. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0093718
- Asch, S. E. (1966). Opinion and social pressure. In A. P. Hare, E. F. Borgatta, & R. F. Bales (Eds.), *Small groups: Studies in social interaction*, (pp. 318-324). Alfred A. Knopf.
- Banks, R. R., Eberhardt, J. L., & Ross, L. (2006). Discrimination and implicit bias in a racially unequal society. *California Law Review*, *94*(4), 1169-1190. https://doi.org/10.2307/20439061
- Bartlett, F. C. (1932). *Remembering: A study in experimental and social psychology*.

 Cambridge University Press.
- Baxter, P., & Jack, S. (2008). Qualitative case study methodology: Study design and implementation for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, *13*(4), 544-559. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2008.1573
- Bedau, H. A., & Radelet, M. L. (1987). Miscarriages of justice in potentially capital cases. *Stanford Law Review*, 40(1), 21-179. https://doi.org/10.2307/1228828
- Bennett, M. W. (2010). Unraveling the Gordian knot of implicit bias in jury selection: The problems of judge-dominated voir dire, the failed promise of Batson, and proposed solutions. *Harvard Law & Policy Review, 4*, 1207-1230.
- Bennett, M. W. (2015). Unspringing the witness memory and demeanor trap: What every judge and juror needs to know about cognitive psychology and witness credibility.

- American University Law Review, 64(6), 1331-1376.
- https://digitalcommons.wcl.american.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2191&cont ext=aulr
- Bennett, J. S., Driver, M. K., & Trent, S. C. (2017). Real or ideal? A narrative literature review addressing White privilege in teacher education. *Urban Education*, *54*(7), 891-918. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085917690205
- Bennett, M. (2017). The changing science on memory and demeanor and what it means for trial judges. *Judicature*, 101(4), 60-63. https://judicature.duke.edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/JUDICATURE101.4-BENNETT.pdf
- Berry, W. W., III. (2011). Do due process protections against unreliable eyewitness identifications apply to all situations, or only when police orchestrate suggestive circumstances? *Preview of United States Supreme Court Cases*, *39*(2). 80–82. https://heinonline.org/HOL/LandingPage?handle=hein.journals/prvw39&div=26 &id=&page=
- Biggs, A. T., Brockmole, J. R., & Witt, J. K. (2013). Armed and attentive: Holding a weapon can bias attentional priorities in scene viewing. *Attention, Perception, & Psychophysics*, 75(8), 1715-1724. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13414-013-0538-6
- Bjerk, D., & Helland, E. (2020). What can DNA exonerations tell us about racial differences in wrongful-conviction rates. *The Journal of Law and Economics*, 63(2), 341-366. https://doi.org/10.1086/707080
- Blackmon. D. A. (2012, September 28). Louisiana death-row inmate Damon Thibodeaux exonerated with DNA evidence. *The Washington Post*.

- https://www.washingtonpost.com/national/louisiana-death-row-inmate-damon-thibodeaux-is-exonerated-with-dna-evidence/2012/09/28/26e30012-0997-11e2-afff-d6c7f20a83bf story.html
- Blair, J. V., Judd, C. M., Sadler, M. S., & Jenkins, C. (2002). The role of Afrocentric features in person perception: Judging by features & categories. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 83(1), 763-778. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.83.1.5
- Blair, I. V., Judd, C. M., & Chapleau, K. M. (2004). The influence of Afrocentric facial features in criminal sentencing. *Psychological Science*, *15*(10), 674-679. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0956-7976.2004.00739.x
- Blandisi, I. M., Clow, K. A., & Ricciardelli, R. (2015). Public perception of wrongly convicted individuals: Findings from semi-structured interviews. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(11), 1181-1904. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2400
- Borchard, E. M. (1913) European systems of state indemnity for errors of criminal justice. *Journal of American Institutions Criminal Law & Criminology*, *3*(5), 684-718. https://doi.org/10.2307/1132914
- Borchard, E. M. (1932). *Convicting the innocent: Sixty-five actual errors of criminal justice*. Garden City Publishing.
- Bothwell, R. K., Deffenbacher, K. A., & Brigham, J. C. (1997). Correlation of eyewitness accuracy and confidence: The optimality hypothesis revisited. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 72(4), 691-695. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.72.4.691
- Bower, K., & King, M. (2019). Why face recognition accuracy varies due to race.

- Biometric Technology Today, 2019(8), 8-11. https://doi.org/10.1016/50969-4765(19)30114-6
- Bowman, R. A., & Gould, J. B. (2020). Prosecutorial involvement in exoneration: An Exploratory analysis of individual organizational and environmental factors.

 Wrongful Convictions Law Review, 1(1), 74-103.

 https://www.wclawr.org/index.php/wclr/article/download/4/29
- Branigan, A. R., Wildeman, C., Freeze, J., & Kiefe, C. I. (2017). Complicating colorism:

 Race, skin color, and the likelihood of arrest. *Socius: Sociological Research for a Dynamic World, 3,* 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1177/2378023117725611
- Brewer, N., & Wells, G. L. (2006). The confidence accuracy relationship in eyewitness identification: Effects of lineup instructions, foil similarity, and target absent base rates. *Journal of Experimental Psychology; Applied, 12*(1), 11-30. https://doi.org/10.1037/1076-898X.12.1.11
- Brown, J., Huntley, D., Morgan, S., Dodson, K. D., & Cich, J. (2017). Forced confabulation: A brief review. *Forensic Scholars Today*, *5*(2). https://doi.org/10.23937/2378-3001/1410070
- Brown, J., Huntley, D., & Morgan, S. (2018). Confabulation: Etiology, typology, and intervention. *Clinical Research in Neurology*, *I*(1), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.33309/2638-7662.010107
- Brown, K. (2016, May 28). Life after wrongful conviction. *The New York Times*.

 https://www.nytimes.com/2016/05/29/opinion/sunday/life-afterwrongfulconviction.html

- Brownstein, M. (2017). Implicit bias. In E. N. Zalta (ed.), *The Stanford encyclopedia of philosophy*. https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/fall2019/entries/implicit-bias/
- Bunin, A. (2015). Innocent man's journey back after life. *Criminal Justice: Chicago*, 30(1), 33-50.
- Burch, T. (2015). Skin color and the criminal justice system: Beyond Black-White disparities in sentencing. *Journal of Empirical Legal Studies*, *12*(3), 395-420. https://doi.org/10.1111/jels.12077
- Burkhart, G. (2016). And that day, innocent blood was saved: Eternal tales of advocates and exonerees. *Criminal Justice: Chicago*, *31*(2), 36-37.
- Campbell. K., & Denov, M. (2004). The burden of innocence: Coping with a wrongful imprisonment. *Canadian Journal of Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 46(2), 139-163. https://doi.org/10.3138/cjccj.46.2.139
- Carlson, C. A., & Carlson, M. A. (2012). A distinctiveness-driven reversal of the weapon-focus effect. *Applied Psychology in Criminal Justice*, 8(1), 36-53. http://dev.cjcenter.org/files/apcj/apcjfall2012-tocarlson.pdf 1342455528.pdf
- Carlson C. A., Pleasant, W. E., Weatherford, D. R., Carlson, M. A., & Bednaz, J. E. (2016). The weapon focus effect: Testing an extension of the unusualness hypothesis. *Applied Psychology in Criminal Justice*, 12(2), 87-100.

 http://dev.cjcenter.org/files/apcj/APCJ%20FALL%202016-final%20v12-2%20-%20Carlson.pdf 1481581505.pdf
- Carlson, C. A., Young, D. F., Weatherford, D. R., Carlson, M. A., Bednarz, J. E., & Jones, A. R. (2016). The influence of perpetrator exposure time and weapon

- presence/timing on eyewitness confidence and accuracy. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 30(6), 898-910. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.3275
- Carlson, C. A., Dias, J. I., Weatherford, D. R., & Carlson, M. A. (2017). An investigation of the weapon focus effect and the confidence-accuracy relationship for eyewitness identification. *Journal of Applied Research in Memory and Cognition*, 6(1), 82-92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jarmac.2016.04.001
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*(5),545-547. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.545-547
- Carter, T. (2015, May 1). These JD-carrying exonerees are using their experiences to right wrongs.

 https://www.abajournal.com/magazine/article/jd_carrying_exonerees_are_using_t

 heir_experiences_to_right_wrongs
- Chan, J. C. K., Thomas, A. K., & Bulevich, J. B. (2009). Recalling a witnessed event increases eyewitness suggestibility: The reversed testing effect. *Psychological Science*, 20(1), 66-73. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02245.x
- Chan, Z. C., Fung, Y., & Chien, W. (2013). Bracketing in Phenomenology: Only

 Undertaken in the Data Collection and Analysis Process. *The Qualitative Report*,

 18(30), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2013.1486
- Chenail, R. J. (2011). Interviewing the investigator: Strategies for addressing instrumentation and researcher bias concerns in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Review*, 16(1), 255-262.

http://www.nova.edu.ssss/QR/QR161/interviewing.pdf

- Chokshi, N. (2017, March 17). Black people more likely to be wrongfully convicted of murder, study shows. *New York Times*.
 - https://www.nytimes.com/2017/03/07/us/wrongful-convictions-race-exoneration.html
- Clemons, J. T. (2014). Blind injustice: The Supreme Court, implied racial bias, and the racial disparity in the criminal justice system. *American Criminal Law Review*, *51*, 689-713.
 - https://www.academia.edu/9099734/Blind Injustice The Supreme Court Implic it Racial Bias and the Racial Disparity in the Criminal Justice System
- Clow, K. A., Blandisi, J. M., Ricciardelli, R., & Schuller, R. A. (2012). Public perception of wrongful conviction: Support for compensation and apologies. *The Albany LawReview*, *75*, 1415-1438.
 - https://www.academia.edu/34044776/Public perception of wrongful conviction

 Support for compensation and apologies
- Clow K. A., & Leach, A. M. (2013). Stigma and wrongful conviction: All exonerees are not perceived equal. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 21*(2), 172-185. https://doi.org/10.1080/1068316X.2014.951645
- Cochran, K. J., Greenspan, R. L., Bogart, D. F., & Loftus, E. F. (2016). Memory blindness: Altered memory reports lead to distortion in eyewitness memory.

 Memory Cognition, 44(5), 717-726. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13421-016-0594-y
- Colburn, A., & Melander, L. A. (2018). Beyond Black and White: An analysis of

newspaper representations of alleged criminal offenders based on race and ethnicity. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, *34*(4), 383-398.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1043986218787730

- Compensation Statutes: A National Overview (n.d.)
- Cox, W. T. L., Devine, P. G., Plant, E. A., & Schwartz, L. L. (2014). Toward a comprehensive understanding of officers' shooting decisions: No simple answers to this complex problem. *Basic & Applied Social Psychology*, 36(4), 356-364. https://doi.org/10.1080/01973533.2014.923312
- Crenshaw, K., Gotanda, N., Peller, G., & Thomas, K. (1995). *Critical race theory: The key writings that formed the movement*. New Press.
- Cutler, B. L. (2009). Expert testimony on the psychology of eyewitness identification.

 Oxford University Press.
- Dass, R. K., Petersen, N., Visser, & Omori, M. (2020). Its not just Black and White:

 Classifying defendant mugshots based on the multidimensionality of race and ethnicity. *IEEE Conference Publication*, 2020.

 https://doi.org/10.1109/CRV50864.2020.00039
- Davenport, J. L. (1996). The effect of authority and social influence in eyewitness suggestibility and personal recognition. *Journal of Police and Criminal Psychology*, 11(1), 35-40.

https://www.academia.edu/28853670/The_effect_of_authority_and_social_influence_on_eyewitness_suggestibility_and_person_recognition_

Davies, G. M., Smith, S., & Blincoe, C. (2008). A weapon focus' effect in children.

- Psychology, Crime & Law, 14(1), 9-28. https://doi.org/10.1080/10683160701391307
- Davis, C. H., Bass, B. L., Behms, K. E., Lillemoe, K. D., Garden, O. J., Roh, M. S., Lee, J. E., Balch, C. M., & Aloia, T. A. (2018). Reviewing the review: a qualitative assessment of the peer review process in surgical journals. *Research Integrity and Peer Review 3*, 1-5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41073-018-0048-0
- Delgado & Stefani, (2017). Flick, U. (2014). An introduction to qualitative research.

 Thousand Oaks Sage. ISBN-13.978-1479802760. ISBN-10147980276X
- Deffenbacher, K. A., Bornstein, B. H., Penrod, S. D., & McGorty, E. K. (2004). A metaanalytic review of the effects of high stress om eyewitness memory. *Law and Human Behavior*, 28, 687-706.

https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1181&context=psych facpub

- Delgado, L. (2017). Mugshot bias: A semantic history of guilt, photography, and culture, *10*(3), 215-232. https://doi.org/10.1080/17514517.2017.1361140
- DeLozier, S., & Rhodes, M. G. (2015). The impact of value-directed remembering on the own-race bias. *Acta Psychologica*, *154*, 62-68.

 https://www.academia.edu/13126879/The_impact_of_value-directed remembering on the own-race bias
- DeShay, R. A. (2016). A lot of people go insane behind that: Coping with the trauma of being wrongfully convicted. *Criminal Justice Studies*, *29*(3), 199-213. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2016-31890-002

- Devine, P. G., Forsher, P. S., Austin, A. J., & Cox, W. T. L. (2012). Long term reduction in implicit race bias: A prejudice habit breaking. intervention. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 48(6), 1267-1278.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2012.06.003
- Di Bello, M., & O'Neil, (2020). Profile evidence, fairness, and the risks of mistaken convictions. *Ethics*, *130*(2), 147-178. https://doi.org/10.1086/705764
- Diehm, J. W. (2015). Pleading guilty while claiming innocence: Reconsidering the mysterious Alford Plea. *University of Florida Journal of Law & Public Policy*, 26(1), 32-50.
- Dixon, T. L., & Maddox, K. B. (2005). Skin tone, crime news and social reality judgments: Priming the stereotype of dark and dangerous Black criminal. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 35(8), 1555-1570. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2005.tb02184.x
- Dodson, C. S., & Dobolyi, D. G. (2016). Confidence and eyewitness identifications: The crossrace effect, decisions time and accuracy. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 30(1) 113-125. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.3178
- Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth interviews. *Arch Sex Behavior*, *41*, 1319-1320. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-012-0016-6
- Dwyer, J., Neufeld, P. J., & Scheck, B. (2000). *Actual innocence: Five days to execution and other dispatches from the wrongly convicted*. Doubleday Books.
- Easterbrook, J. A. (1959). The effect of emotion on cue utilization and the organization of

- behavior. *Psychological Review*, 66(3), 183-201. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0047707
- Eberhardt, J. L., Purdie, V. J., Goff, P. A., & Davies, P. G. (2004). Seeing Black: race, crime, and visual processing. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 87(6), 876-893. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.87.6.876
- Eberhardt, J. L., Davies, P. G., Purdie-Vaughns, V. J., & Johnson, S. L. (2006). Looking deathworthy: Perceived stereotypicality of Black defendants predicts capital-sentencing outcomes. *Psychological Science*, *17*(5), 383-386. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2006.01716.x
- Egan, V., Gilzeane, N., & Viskaduraki, M. (2013). Strategic race blindness: not so Black and White? *Journal of Criminal Psychology*, *3*(2), 127-135. https://doi.org/10.1108/JCP-09-2012-0006
- Eisen, M. L., Cedre, G. C., Williams, T. Q., & Jones, J. M. (2018). Does anyone else look familiar? Influencing identification decisions by asking witnesses to re-examine the lineup. *Law & Human Behavior*, *42*(4), 306-320.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000291
- Erickson, W. B., Lampinen, J. M., & Leding, J. K. (2014). The weapon focus effect in target- present and target-absent line-ups: The roles of threat, novelty and timing.

 Applied Cognitive Psychology, 42(4), 349-359. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.3005
- Faison, L. & Smalarz, L. (2020). Perceptions of exonerees: A review of the psychological science. *Albany Law Review*, 83(3), 1021-1058.
 - http://www.albanylawreview.org/Articles/Vol83 3/83 3 Alb L Rev 1021 Smal

arz.pdf

- Farideh, Y. (2003). Content validity and its estimation. *Journal of Medical Education*, 3(1), 25-27. https://doi.org/10.22037/jme.v3i1.870
- Fawcett, J. M., Russell, E. J., Peace, K. A., & Kristie, J. (2013). Of guns and geese: A meta-analytical review of the "weapon focus" literature. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 19*(1), 1-32. https://doi.org/10.1080/1068316X.2011.599325
- Fawcett, J. M., Peace, K. A. & Greve, A. (2016). Looking down the barrel of a gun: What do we know about the Weapon Focus Effect? *Journal of Applied Research in Memory and Cognition*, *5*(3), 257-263.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jarmac.2016.07.005
- Ferguson, D. (2020). That's the One!: An analysis of eyewitness identifications in Missouri and their impact on cross-racial identification. *Washington University Journal of Law & Policy*, *63*(1), 357-387.

 https://openscholarship.wustl.edu/law_journal_law_policy/vol63/iss1/17/
- Festinger, L. (1957). *A theory of cognitive dissonance*. Stanford University Press
- Findley, K. A., & Scott, M. (2006). The multiple dimensions of tunnel vision in criminal cases. *Wisconsin Law Review, 2006,* 291-397.

https://media.law.wisc.edu/m/hyjb3/findley_scott_final.pdf

- Finkeldey, J. G., & Demuth, S. (2019). Race/ethnicity, perceived skin color, and the likelihood of an adult arrest. https://doi.org/10.1177/2153368719826269
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (1975). *Belief, attitude, intention and behavior: An introduction to theory and research*. Addisin-Wesley.

- Fitzgerald, C. L. (1997). *The accuracy of cross-racial eyewitness identification* [unpublished master's thesis]. University of Massachusetts Lowell.
- Fitzgerald, R. J., Oriet, C., & Price, H. L. (2015). Suspect filler similarity in eyewitness lineups: A literature review and a novel methodology. *Law and Human Behavior*, 39(1) 62-74. https://doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000095
- Flevaris, V. T., & Chapman, E. (2015). Cross racial misidentification: A call to action in Washington state and beyond. *Seattle U.L. Review.* 38(3), 861-900.
- Flick, U. (2014). An introduction to qualitative research. Thousand Oaks; Sage. ISBN-13.978-1479802760. ISBN-10147980276X
- Flowe, H.D., Finklea, K.M., & Ebbessen, E.B. (2009). Expert testimony on the psychology of eyewitness identification. Cutler, B.L., (Ed.). pp. 201-221., Oxford. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195331974.001.0001
- Flowe, H. D., Hope, L., & Hillstrom, A. P. (2013). Oculomotor examination of the weapon focus effect: Does a gun automatically engage visual attention? *PloS ONE 8*(12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0081011
- Frankfurter, F. (2003). *The case of Sacco and Vanzetti 30: A critical analysis for lawyers and laymen*. William S. Hein and Co.
- Fulero, S. M., & Wrightsman, L. S. (2008). Forensic psychology. Cengage Learning.
- Gao, X. C., Wang, N., & Li, J. (2018). Face recognition from multiple stylistic sketches:

 Scenario, data sets and evaluation. *Pattern Recognition*, *84*, 262-272.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.patcog.2018.07.014
- Garcia-Hallett, J. (2019). "We're being released to a jungle": The state of prisoner reentry

- and the resilience of women of color. *The Prison Journal*, *99*(4), 459-483. https://doi.org/10.1177/0032885519852089
- Garret, B. L. (2011). *Convicting the innocent: Where criminal prosecutions go wrong.*Harvard University Press.
- Garrett, B. L. (2012). Eyewitness and exclusion. *Vanderbilt Law Review. (65)*, 451-547. https://scholarship.law.vanderbilt.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1333&context=vlr
- Garrett, B. L. (2017). Actual innocence and wrongful conviction. *Academy for Justice, A report on scholarship and criminal justice reform.* (Erik Luna ed., forthcoming 2017).
- Gilna, D. (2017). "Prison Cloud" Providers Limited Internet Access to Belgian Prisoners

 [Prisn Legal News. Prison Legal News. In Reisdorf (2020). The internet, digital devices, and formerly incarcerated persons; the case for internet access during incarceration. https://www.brennancenter.org/news/2017/mar/31/prisoncloud-provides-limited-internetaccess-belgian-prisoners/
- Girandola, F. (1997). Double forced compliance and cognitive dissonance theory.

 Journal of Social Psychology, 137(5), 594-605.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00224549709595481
- Goffman, E. (1963). Stigma: Notes on the management of spoiled identity. Prentice-Hall.
- Goldberg, L., Guillen, N., Hernandez, N., & Levett, L. M. (2019). Obstacles and barriers after exoneration. *Albany Law Review*, 83, 829-854.

http://www.albanylawreview.org/Articles/Vol83 3/83 3 Alb L Rev 0829 Leve

tt.pdf

- Goldinger, S. D., He, Y., & Papeesh, M. H. (2009). Deficits in cross-race learning:

 Insights from eye movements and pupillometry. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 35*(5), 1105-1122.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016548
- Goldstein, A.R. (2019). Racial disparities among exonerees based on wrongful conviction factors and types of crimes. *Proceedings of the National Conference on Undergraduate Research (NCUR. Department of Psychological Science), Kansas State University. 1-5.*
- Goodman, C. C. (2018). Shadowing the bar: Attorneys' own implicit bias. *Berkeley La Raza Law Journal*, *28*(18). 18-52.

 https://lawcat.berkeley.edu/record/1128491/files/fulltext.pdf
- Gould, J. B., Carrano, J., Leo, R., & Young, J. (2012). *Predicting erroneous convictions:*A social science approach to miscarriages of justice (Report No. 241389). United

 States Department of Justice. https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/241389.pdf
- Gould, J. B., & Leo, R. A. (2010). One hundred years later: Wrongful convictions after a century of research. *The Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology*, *100*(3), 825-868. https://scholarlycommons.law.northwestern.edu/jclc/vol100/iss3/7
- Gould, J. B., & Leo, R. A. (2015/2016). The path to exoneration. *Albany Law Review*, 79(2), 325-371.

http://www.albanylawreview.org/Articles/vol79_2/325%20Gould_Leo%20FINA L%20MIX_79.2.pdf

- Gould, M. W. K. (2013). Group Polarization. Research Starters: Sociology (Online Edition).
- Gray, J. (1999, April 16). Court backs guiding jury on racial factor. *New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/1999/04/16/nyregion/court-backs-guiding-jury-on-racial-factor.html
- Greenwald, A. G., & Banaji, M. R. (2017). The implicit revolution: Reconceiving the relation between conscious and unconscious. *American Psychologist*, 72(9), 861-871. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000238
- Greenwald, A. G. & Ronis, D. L. (1978). Twenty years of cognitive dissonance: Case study of the evolution of a theory. *Psychological Review*, 85(1), 53-57. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X85.1.53
- Grella, C. E., Lovinger, K., & Warda, U. S. (2013). Relationships among trauma exposure, familial characteristics, and PTSD: A case control-study of women in orison and in the general population. *Women & Criminal Justice, 23*(1), 63-79. https://doi.org/10.1080/08974454.2013.743376
- Gross, S. R., & Shaffer, M. (2012). Exonerations in the United States, 1989-2012. *U of Michigan Public Law Working Paper*.

 https://www.law.umich.edu/special/exoneration/Pages/about.aspx
- Gross, S. R., Possley, M., & Stephens, K. (2017) Race and wrongful convictions in the United States. *National Registry of Exonerations Newkirk Center for Science and Society*. https://www.law.umich.edu/special/exoneration/Pages/about.aspx
- Grounds, A. (2004). Psychological consequences of wrongful conviction and

- imprisonment. Canadian Journal of Criminology & Criminal Justice, 46(2), 165-182. https://www.ojp.gov/ncjrs/virtual-library/abstracts/psychological-consequences-wrongful-conviction-and-imprisonment
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods 18*(1), 59-82. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X05279903
- Harmon-Jones, E. E. (2019). *Cognitive dissonance: Reexamining a pivotal theory in psychology* (pp. xvi-303). American Psychological Association.
- Harvard Law Review. (2012). Evidence-eyewitness identification-New Jersey Supreme Court uses psychological research to update admissibility standards for out of court identification, Sate V. Henderson, 27 A.3d 872(N.J. 2011).
- Hennessy-Fiske, M. (2012, May 8). Dallas county district attorney a hero to the wrongfully convicted. Los Angeles Times.
 http://articles.latimes.com/2012/may/08/nation/la-na-dallas-district-attorney
- Hetey, R. C., & Eberhardt, J. L. (2018). The numbers don't speak for themselves: Racial disparities and the persistence of inequality in the criminal justice system. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *27*(3), 183-187.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721418763931
- Hinton, P. (2017). Implicit stereotypes and the predictive brain: cognition and culture in "biased" person perception. *Palgrave Communications*, *3*(1), 1-9.

 https://www.nature.com/articles/palcomms201786.pdf?origin=ppub
- Ho, M. R., & Pezdek, K. (2015). Post encoding cognitive processes in the cross-race

- effect: Categorization and individuation during face recognition. *Psychton Bull Review*, *23*(3), 771-780. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-015-0945-x
- Holroyd, J., Scaife, R., & Stafford, T. (2017). Responsibility for implicit bias. *Philosophy Compass*, 12(3), e12410. https://doi.org/10.1111/phc3.12410
- Hochschild Jr, T. R., Alvarez-Rivera, L., Hightower, R., Zeaser, A., Prain, T., & Lewis, R. S (2018). Assailants or saints?: Racial, ethnic, and gender depictions on a social media based city news website. *The Journal of Public and Professional Sociology*, 10(2), 5-31. https://digitalcommons.kennesaw.edu/jpps/vol10/iss2/5
- Holmes, M. E. (2011). Selecting the suspect: An eye-tracking comparison of viewing of same race vs. cross-race photographs in eyewitness identification. *Visual Communication Quarterly*, *18*(4), 236-249.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15551393.2011.627280
- Holroyd, J., Scaife, R., & Stafford, T. (2017). Responsibility for implicit bias. *Philosophy Compass*, 12(3), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1111/phc3.12410
- Hope, L., Gabbert, F., & Fraser, J. (2013). Post incident conferring by law enforcement officers: Determining the impact of team discussions on statement content, accuracy, and officer beliefs. *Law and Human Behavior*, *37*(2), 117-127. https://doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000019
- Horowitz, J., & Peffley, M. (2010). And justice for some: Race, Crime and Punishment in the US criminal justice system. *Canadian Journal of Political Science*, 43(2), 457-459. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0008423910000120
- Hosch, H. M., Jolly, K. W., Schmersal, L. A., & Smith, B. A. (2009). Expert testimony

- on the psychology of eyewitness identification: Consensus among experts? In Cutler, B. L. (Ed.), *Expert testimony on the psychology of eyewitness identification* (pp. 143-168). Oxford University Press.
- Hounihan, L.L., Benjamin, A.S., & Xiping, L. (2012). A cross-race effect in metamemory: predictions of race recognition are more accurate for members of our own race. *Journal of Applied Research in Memory and Cognition*, 1(3), 158-162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.Jamam.2012.06.004
- Howard, S. (2019). Exonerees in Black and White: The influence of race on perceptions of those who falsely confessed to a crime. *Psychology, Crime and Law, 25*(9), 911-924.

 https://epublications.marquette.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1486&context=ps
- Huff, C. R., Rattner, A., Sagarin, E., & MacNamara, D. E. (1986). Guilty until proven innocent: Wrongful conviction and public policy. *Crime and Delinquency*, 32(4), 518-544. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011128786032004007

ych fac

- Hugenberg, K., Young, S. G., Bernstein, M. J., & Sacco, D. F. (2010). The categorization individuation model: An integrative account of the other-race recognition deficit.
 Psychological Review, 117(4), 1168-1187. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020463
 Innocence Project. (n.d.). https://www.innocence.org/
- Jackson, H. (1999). The Record [Berge Top court retrial in '92 rape ruling focuses in "cross- racial" ID {All editions-2 Star B, 2 Star P, 1 Star Early] n county, N.J.].a04 Josephson

- Jochnowitz, L.D. & Kendall, T. (2021). Analyzing wrongful convictions beyond the

 Traditional canonical list of errors for ensuring structural and sociological

 attributes to juveniles, racism, adversary system, policing practices. Published by

 Digital Commons @ Touro Law Center; (579-663).

 https://digitalcommons.tourolaw.edu/lawreview/vol37/issue2/6
- Johnson, M. B., Griffith, S., & Barnaby, C. Y. (2013). African Americans wrongly convicted of sexual assault against Whites: eyewitness error and other case features. *Journal of Ethnicity in Criminal Justice*, *11*, 277-294. https://doi.org/10:1080/15377938.2013.813285
- Jonas, E., Schulz-Hardt, S., Frey, D., & Thelen, N. (2001). Confirmation bias in sequential information search after preliminary decisions: An expansion of dissonance theoretical research on selective exposure to information. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 80(4), 557-571. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.80.4.557
- Josephson, S., & Holmes, M. F. (2011). Selecting the suspect: An eye-tracking comparison of viewing of same race vs. cross-race photographs in eyewitness identification. *Visual Communication Quarterly*, *18*(4), 236-249

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15551393.2011.627280
- Kabob, K., & Storer, S. (2016). The weapon focus effect for person identification and description: a meta-analysis. In M.K. Miller, B.H. Bornstein (Eds.), *Advances in Psychology and Law* (pp. 71-117).
- Kahn, S. N. (2014). Qualitative research method phenomenology. *Asian Social Science*,

- 10(21), 298-310. https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v10n21p298
- Kang, J., Bennet, Judge M., Carbado, D., Casey, P., Dasgupta, N., Faigman, D., Godsil, R., Greenwald, A. G., Levinson, J., & Mnookin, J. (2012). Implicit bias in the courtroom. UCLA Law Review, 59 UCLAL. Rev. 1124
 https://heinonline.org/HOL/LandingPage?handle=hein.journals/uclalr59&div=34
 &id=&p age=
- Kaplan, A. B., & Puracal, J. C. (2015). Who could it be now? Challenging the reliability of first time in court identifications after state V Henderson and state V Lawson.

 Journal of Criminal Law & Criminology, 105(4), 947-991.

 https://scholarlycommons.law.northwestern.edu/jclc/vol105/iss4/6
- Karaffa, K. M., Koch, J. M., & Page, J. (2017). Compensating the innocent: Perceptions of exonerees deservingness to receive financial compensation for wrongful conviction. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 28(7), 710-732.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/-0887403415607049
- Kathy, P. (1977). Cross-modality semantic integration of sentence and picture memory Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Learning and Memory, 3(5), 515-524. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.3.5.515
- Keith, E. Y. H. (2016). Wronged without recourse: examining shortcomings of compensation statutes for Black exonerees. *Georgetown Journal of Law & Modern Critical Race Perspectives*, 2, 335-354.
- Kenneth, A. D., Brian, H. B., & Steven, D. P. (2006). Mugshot exposure effects:

 Retroactive interference, mugshot commitment, source confusion, and

- unconscious transference. *Law & Human Behavior*, *30*(3), 287-307. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10979-006-9008-1
- Kirshenbaum, J. M., Cabell, J. J., Moody, S. A., & Yang, Y. (2020). Life after exoneration: An overview of factors that affect exoneree reintegration. *Advances in Psychology and Law*, (5) 179-218. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-54678-6-6
- Kleider, H. M., Cavrak, S. E., & Knuycky, L. R. (2012). Looking like a criminal: stereotypical Black facial features promote face source memory error. *Memory & Cognition*, 40(8), 1200-1213. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13421-012-0229-x
- Kleider-Offutt, H. M., Knuycky, L. R., Clevinger, A. M., & Capodanno, M. M. (2017).
 Wrongful convictions and prototypical Black features: Can a face-type facilitate misidentifications? *Legal & Criminological Psychology*, 22(2), 350-358.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/lcrp.12105
- Kleider-Offutt, H. M., Bond, A. D., & Hegerty, S. E. A. (2017). Black stereotypical features: When a face type can get you in trouble. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 26(1), 28-33. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721416667916
- Knuycky, L. R., Kleider, H. M., & Cavrak, S. E. (2014). Line-up misidentifications:

 Where being prototypically Black is perceived as criminal. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 28(1), 39-46. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.2954
- Konvisser, Z. D., & Werry, A. (2017). Exoneree engagement in policy reform work: An exploratory study of the innocence movement policy reform process. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, *33*(1), 43-60.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1043986216673010

- Kreggs, C. (2016, January). Right to counsel: Mental health approaches to support the

 exonerated [Online forum post]. Advocates' Forum.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/311922473 Right to Counsel Mental

 Health Approaches to Support the Exonerated
- Laney, C., & Loftus, E. E. (2021). False memories matter. *Current Issues in Memory:*Memory Research in the Public Interest, 143-155.
- LaPorte, G. (2017). Wrongful convictions and DNA exonerations: Understanding the role of forensic science. *NIJ Journal*, *279*, 1-16. https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/nij/250705.pdf
- Lee, W. J., & Wilkerson, C. (2016). The unfamiliar face effect on forensic craniofacial reconstruction and recognition. *Forensic Science International (online):*Amsterdam 269, 21-30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forsciint.2016.11.003
- Leinfelt, F. H. (2004). Descriptive eyewitness testimony: the influence of emotionality, racial identification, question style, and selective perception. *Criminal Justice Review*, 29(2), 317-340. https://doi.org/10.1177/073401680402900204
- Leipold, A. D. (2005). How the pretrial process contributes to wrongful convictions. *The American Criminal Law Review, 42(4),* 1123-1165.

 https://ssrn.com/abstract=873904
- Leippe, M. R., & Eisenstadt, D. (2007). Eyewitness confidence and the confidence accuracy relationship in memory for people. In R.C.L. Lindsay, D.F. Ross, J.D. Read, & M.F. Toglia (Eds.), *The handbook of eyewitness psychology, Vol. 2.*

- Memory for people (p. 377–425). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Leippe, M. R., Eisenstadt, D., & Rauch, S. M. (2009). Cueing confidence in eyewitness identification: Influence if biased lineup instructions and pre-identification memory feedback under varying lineup conditions. *Law and Human Behavior*, 33(3), 194-212. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10979-008-9135-y
- Leo, R. A. (2005). Rethinking the study of miscarriages of justice: Developing a criminology of wrongful conviction. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, 21(3), 210-223. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043986205277477
- Leo, R. A. (2016). What innocence means today and why it matters. University of San Francisco School of Law; Research Paper 2016-08. Leo, Richard A., What Innocence Means Today and Why It Matters (October 1, 2015). Univ. of San Francisco Law Research Paper No. 2016-08. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2682824
- Levinson, J. D. (2006). Forgotten racial equality: Implicit bias, decision making, and misremembering *Duke Law Journal*, *57*, 2007. https://ssrn.com/abstract=927547
- Levinson, J. D., Cai, H., & Young, D. (2009, September 10). *Guilty by implicit racial*bias: The guilty/not guilty implicit association test. Ohio State Journal of Criminal

 Law, Forthcoming. https://ssrn.com/abstract=1471567
- Levinson, J. D, Smith, R. J., & Hioki, K. (2019). Race and retribution: An empirical study of implicit bias and punishment in America. 53 U.C. Davis L. Rev. 839.
- Liebman, J. S., Fagan, J., Gelman, A., West, V., & Lloyd, J. (2000). Capital attrition:

 Error rates in capital case, 1973-1995. *Texas Law Review, 78,* 1839-1865.

 https://scholarship.law.columbia.edu/faculty_scholarship/472/

- Lindsay, D. S., Read, J. D., & Sharma, K. (1998). Accuracy and confidence in person identification. The relationship is strong when witnessing conditions vary widely *Psychological Science*, *9*(3), 215-218. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.00041
- Lindsay, R. C. L., Semmler, C., Weber, N., Brewer, N., & Lindsay, M. R. (2008). How variations in distance affect eyewitness reports and identification accuracy. *Law and Human Behavior*, *32*(6), 526-535. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10979-008-9128-x
- Lindsay, D. S., Nilsen, E., & Read, J. D. (2000). Witnessing conditions, heterogeneity and witnesses versus investigators' confidence in the accuracy of witnesses' identification decisions. *Law and Human Behavior*, *24*(6), 685-697. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005504320565
- Liska, K. A. (2017). Experts in the jury room: When personal experience is extraneous information. *Stanford Law Review*, *69*(3), 911-940.

 https://www.stanfordlawreview.org/print/article/experts-in-the-jury-room/
- Loftus, E. F. (1975). Leading questions and the eyewitness report. *Cognitive Psychology*, 7(4), 560-572. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0285(75)90023-7
- Loftus, E. F., & Greenspan, R. L. (2017). If I'm certain, is it true? Accuracy and confidence in eyewitness memory. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 18(1), 1-2. https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100617699241
- Loftus, E. F., Loftus, G. R., & Messo, J. (1987). Some facts about "weapon focus." *Law and Human Behavior*, 11(1), 55-62. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01044839
- Loftus, E. F., Miller, D. G., & Burns, H. J. (1978). Semantic integration of verbal information into visual memory. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human*

- Learning and Memory, 4(1), 19-31. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.4.1.19
- Loftus, E. F. & Pickrell, J. E. (1995). The formation of false memories. *Psychiatric Annals*, 25(12), 720-725. https://doi.org/10.3928/0048-5713-19951201-07
- Loftus, G. R., & Harley, E. M. (2005). Why is it easier to identify someone close than far away? *Psychonomic Bulletin and Review*, *12*(1), 43-65. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03196348
- Macrae, C. N., & Bodenhausen, G. V. (2000). Social cognition: Thinking categorically of others. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 51(1), 93-120.
 https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.51.1.93
- Maeder, E. M., & Ewanation, L. (2018). What makes race salient? Juror decision making in same-race versus, cross-race identification scenarios and the influence of expert testimony. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *45*(8), 598-609.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854818776998
- MaGuire, M. D., Kenny, T., & Grabic, A. (2015). Eyewitness identification for prudent police, *Policing: An International Journal*, *38*(4), 598-609.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/PIJPSM-05-2015-0055
- Maina, I. W., Belton, T. D., Ginzberg, S., Singh, A., & Johnson, T. J. (2018). A decade of studying implicit racial/ethnic bias in healthcare providers using the implicit bias association test. *Social Science & Medicine*, 199, 219-229.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.05.009
- Malkani, B. (2018). Voices of the condemned: A comparison study of the testimonies of death row exonerees and slave narratives. *Law, Culture & the Humanities*,

14(1),140. https://doi.org/10.1177/1743872114556435

- Malone, H., Nicholl, H., & Tracey, C. (2014). Awareness and minimization of systemic bias in research. *British Journal of Nursing*, *23*(5), 279-282. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2014.23.5.279
- Malpass, R., & Kravitz, J. (1969). Recognition for faces of own and other's race. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, 13(4), 330-334. https://doi.org/10.1037/hoo28434
- Mansour, J. K., Hamilton, C. M., & Gibson, M. T. (2018). Understanding the weapon focus effect: The role of threat, unusualness, exposure duration, and scene complexity. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, *35*(6), 991-1007. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.3515
- Mansour, J. K., Lindsay, R. C., Brewer, N., & Munhall, K. G. (2009). Characterizing visual behavior in a lineup task. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, *23*(7), 1012-1026. https://doi.org/10./1002/acp.1570
- Maschi, T., Viola, D., & Koskinen, L. (2015). Trauma stress, and coping among older adults in prison: Towards a human rights and intergenerational family justice action agenda. *Traumatology: An International Journal*, 21(3), 857-867. https://doi.org/10.1037/trm0000021
- Maschi, T., Viola, D., & Morgen, K, (2013). Unraveling trauma and stress, coping resources and mental well-being among older adults in prison: Empirical evidence linking theory and practice. *The Gerentologist*, *54*(5). 857-867.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnt069

- Mather, M., & Sutherland, M. R. (2011). Arousal-biased competition in perception and memory. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *6*(2), 114-133. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691611400234
- Matthew, A. P., Neil, B., Nathan, W., & Ambika, N. (2013). The confidence accuracy relationship for eyewitness identification decisions: Effects of exposure duration, retention interval, and divided attention. *Journal of Experimental Psychology:*Applied, 19(1), 55-71. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031602
- Medwed, D. (2017). Wrongful convictions and the DNA revolution: Twenty-five years of freeing the innocent. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2017, 407p.

 Reviewer Marvin Zalman.
- Mekawi, Y., & Bresin, K. (2015). Is the evidence from racial bias shooting task studies a smoking gun? Results from a meta-analysis. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 61, 1120-1130. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JESP.2015.08.002
- Melamed, D., Munn, C.W., Barry, L., Montgomery, B., & Okuwobi, O.F. (2019). Status characteristics, implicit bias, and the production of racial inequality. *American Psychological Review*, 84(6), 1013-1036.

 https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0003122419879101
- Meissner, C. A. Brigham, J. C., & Butz, D. A. (2005). Memory for own-and other faces:

 A dual-process approach. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, *19*(5), 545-567.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.1097
- Michel, C., Corneille, O., & Rossion, B. (2010). Categorization of face modules holistic face processing. *Journal of Vision*, 6(6), 435-435. https://doi.org/10.1167/6.6435

- Milgram, S. (1983). *Obedience to authority*. Harper/Collins.
- Miller, A. E. (2016). Jury suggestibility: The misinformation effect and why courts should care about inaccuracies in transcripts that accompany recorded evidence.

 Law & Psychology Review; Tuscaloosa, 40, 363-382.

 https://www.thefreelibrary.com/Jury+suggestibility%3A+the+misinformation+eff

 ect+and+why+courts+should...-a0477086205
- Miller, N. (2001). The power if DNA: Reflections of the wrongly convicted. *New England Law Review*, *35*, 615-620.
- Mitchell, T. L., Haw, R. M., Pfeifer, J. E., & Meissner, C. A. (2005). Racial bias in mock juror decision-making: A meta-analytic review of defendant treatment. *Law and Human Behavior*, 29(6), 621-637. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10979-005-8122-9
- Monk, E. P. (2019). The color of punishment: African Americans, skin tone and the criminal justice system. *Ethnic and Racial Studies, 42*(10), 1593-1612. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2018.1508736
- Moore, S. (2007, October 1). Exoneration using DNA brings change in legal system. *The New York Times Review*.
 - http://www.nytimes.com/2007/10/01/us/01exonerate.html?pagewanted=all
- Munsterberg, H. (1998). On the witness stand: Essays on psychology and crime.

 Doubleday.
- Narina, N., Monica, L. M., Holly, L. C., & Leigh, A. S. (1999). The testimony of elderly victim/Witnesses and their impact on juror decisions: The importance of examining multiple Stereotypes. *Law & Human Behavior*, *23*(4), 413-423.

https://www.ojp.gov/ncjrs/virtual-library/abstracts/testimony-elderly-victimwitnesses-and-their-impact-juror-decisions

National Institute of Justice (n.d.) https://nij.ojp.gov/topics/justice-system-reform/wrongful-convictions

National Reentry Resources Center (n.d.). https://nationalreentryresourcecenter.org

National Registry of Exonerations. (n.d.-a). A Project of the University of California

Irvine Newkirk Center for Science & Society, University of Michigan Law School
& Michigan State University College of Law.

https://www.law.umich.edu/special/exoneration/Pages/about.aspx

National Registry of Exonerations. (n.d.-b) Exonerations by state report: Statistics on wrongful convictions in the United States.

https://www.law.umich.edu/special/exoneration/Pages/Exonerations-in-the-United-States-Map.aspx

Neal, T. M. S., Christiansen, A., Bornstein, B.H., & Robicheaux, T. (2012). The effects of mock jurors' beliefs about eyewitness performance on trial judgments.

*Psychology, Crime & Law, 18(1), 49-64.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1068316X.2011.587815

Nguyen, T. B., Abed, E., & Pealek, K. (2018). Postdictive confidence (but not predictive confidence) predicts eyewitness memory accuracy. *Cognitive Research:*Principles and Implications, 3(32). https://doi.org/10.1186/s41235-018-0125-4

Nhan, J., Polzer, K., & Polzer, J. (2013). Discounted justice: The potential misuse of Alford pleas for future exonerees. *The Social Science Journal*, *50*(3), 374-380.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soscij.2013.03.004

- Nickalls, S. (2012, December 8). The catch 22 of eyewitness ID: Juries trust the memories of witnesses even when they shouldn't. *Slate*. https://slate.com/news-and-politics/2012/12/oregon-supreme-court-on-eyewitness-ids-theyre-often-unreliable.html
- Nirider, L., Davis, D., & Leo, R. A. (2021). A history of interrogation and interrogative suggestibility. The litigator's handbook of forensic medicine, psychiatry and psychology. Thomson Reuters, forthcoming 2021.
- Nokleby, H. (2011). Triangulation with diverse intentions. *KAPET. Karlstads universitets**Pedagogiska Tidskrift, 1(1), 140-156. http://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:490569/FULLTEXT01.pdf
- Norris, R. J., Weintraub, J. N., Acker, J. R., Redlich, A. D., & Bonventre, C. L. (2019). The criminal costs of wrongful convictions; can we reduce crime by protecting the innocent? *Criminology & Public Policy*, 19(2). 367-388. https://doi.org/10.1111/1745-9133.12463
- NC PROSECUTORS RESOURCE ONLINE 662.1 Eyewitness Identification 02/27/2020.
- Nunez, N., McCoy, M. L., Clark, H. L., & Shaw, L. A. (1999). The testimony of elderly victim/witnesses and their impact on juror decisions: The importance of examining multiple stereotypes. *Law and Human Behavior*, *23*(4), 413-423. https://psycnet.apa.org/buy/1999-03608-002
- Oeberst, A. (2015). How good are future lawyers in judging the accuracy of reminiscent

- details? The estimation-observation gap in real eyewitness accounts. *The European Journal of Psychology Applied to Legal Context*, 7(2), 73-79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpal.2015.03.002
- Oliver, P. E. (2020, June 4). *Resisting repression: The Black lives movement in context*. https://doi.org/10.31235/osf.io/x3ahr
- Osborne, D., & Davies, P. G. (2013). Eyewitness identifications are affected by stereotypes about a suspect's level of perceived stereotypicality. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 16(4), 488-504.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430212454927
- Palmer, M. A., Brewer, N., Weber, N., & Nagesh, A. (2013). The confidence-accuracy relationship for eyewitness identification decisions: Effects of exposure duration, retention interval and divided attention. *Journal of Experimental Psychology:*Applied, 19(1), 55-71. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031602
- Parkes, D., & Cunliffe, E. (2015). Women and wrongful convictions: Concepts and challenges. *International Journal of Law in Context: Cambridge, 11*(3), 219-244. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1744552315000129
- Peoples, C. D., Sigillo, A. E., Green, M., & Miller, M. K. (2012). Friendship and conformity in Group opinions: Juror's verdict change in mock juries *Sociological Spectrum*, 32(2), 178-193. https://doi.org/10.1080/02732173.2012.646163
- Pezdek, K., Sperry, K., & Owens, S. M. (2007). Interviewing witnesses: The effects of forced confabulation on event memory. *Law and Human Behavior*, *31*(5), 463-478. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10979-006-9081-5

- Pezdek, M. (1977). Cross-modality semantic integration of sentence and picture memory.

 **Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Learning & Memory, 3(5), 315-324.

 https://doi.org/10.1037//0278-7393.3.5.515
- Phillips, M. R., McAuliff, B. D., Kovera, M. B., & Cutler, B. L. (1999). Double-blind photoarray administration as a safeguard against investigator bias. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 84, 940-951. https://www.academia.edu/37241509/Double-blind photoarray administration as a safeguard against investigator bias Correction to Phillips et al. 1999
- Pickel, K. L. (2015). Eyewitness memory. In M. J. M. Fawcett, E. F., Risko, & A. Kingstone (Eds.), *The handbook of attention* (pp. 485-502). The MIT Press.
- Pickel, K. L., & Sneyd, D. E. (2018). The weapon focus effect is weaker with Black versus White male perpetrators. *Memory*, 26(1), 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1080/09658211.2017.1317814
- Pitts, L. (2012, May 21). We got tough on crime and too hard on justice. *Bay Area News Group*.
- Ponterotto, J. G. (2010). Qualitative research in multicultural psychology: Philosophical underpinnings, popular approaches, and ethical considerations. *Ethnic Diversity and Cultural Minority Psychology*, *16*(4),581-589.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0012051
- Pulla, V, & Carter, E. (2018). Employing interpretivism in social work research.
 International Journal of Social Work and Human Services Practice. 6(1), 9-14.
 https://doi.org/10.13189/ijrh.2018.060102

- Rapp, G. (2000). DNA's Dark Side. *The Yale Law Journal*, 110(1), 163-171. https://doi.org/10.2307/797589
- Reardon, M. C., & Fisher, R. P. (2011). Effect of viewing the interview an identification process on juror perceptions of eyewitness accuracy. *Applied Cognitive**Psychology 25(1), 68-77. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.1643
- Renick, M. L. (2014). When eyewitnesses misremember: The delicate balance between forensic investigation and memory evidence assessment.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1541931214581112
- Riessman, C. K. (2008). Narrative methods for the human mind. Sage Publications.
- Risinger, D. (2007). Innocents convicted: An empirically justified factual wrongful conviction rate. *The Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology*, 97(3), 761-803.

 https://scholarlycommons.law.northwestern.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=7269

 &context=jclc
- Roberts, J., & Stanton, E. (2007, November 25) Free and uneasy: A long road back after exoneration, and justice is slow to make amends. *The New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2007/11/25/us/25dna.html
- Rogers, J. (2017) Prosecutorial crimes and corruption: The white elephant in the courtroom. *Saint Louis University School of Law.* (691-705).

https://doi.org/10.1348/135532502760274765

Roper, R., & Sherwin, D. (2010). Compliance and eyewitness testimony: Do eyewitnesses comply with misleading expert pressure during investigative? *Legal* and *Criminological Psychology*, 7(2), 155-163.

- Rossion, B., & Michel, C. (2011). An experience-based holistic account of the other-face effect. *The Oxford Handbook of Face Perception*, p. 132.
- Roth, M. (2010, December 26). Looking across the racial divide how eye-witness testimony can cause problems. *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*.

 https://www.postgazette.com/news/science/2010/12/26/Looking-across-the-racial-divide-how-eyewitness-testimony-can-cause-problems/stories/201012260195
- Rudolph, U., Roesch, S. C., Greitmeuer, T., & Weiner, B. (2004). A meta-analytic review of help giving and aggression from an attribution perspective: Contributions to a general theory of motivation. *Cognitive and Emotion*, *18*(6), 815-848.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930341000248
- Russano, M. B., Dickenson, J. J., Greathouse, S. M., & Kovera, M. B. (2006). Why don't you take another look at number three: Investigator knowledge and its effects on eyewitness confidence and identification decisions. *Cardoza Public Law, Policy, and Ethics Journal*, 4, 355-379.
- Rutledge, J. P. (2001). They all look alike: The inaccuracy of cross-racial identifications. *American Journal of Criminal Law, 28(2), 207-229.*
- Ryan, B. S. (2015). Alleviating Own-Race Bias in Cross-Racial Identifications. *Wash. U. Jurisprudence Rev.*, 8(1), 115-149.

 https://openscholarship.wustl.edu/law_jurisprudence/vol8/iss1/5
- Safer, M. A., Murphy, R. P., Wise, R. A., Bussey, L., Millett, C., & Holfeld, B. (2016).

 Educating jurors about eyewitness testimony in criminal cases with circumstantial and forensic evidence. *International Journal of aw and Psychiatry*, 47, 86-92.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijlp.2016.02.041

- Sagana, A., Sauerland, M., & Merckelbach, H. (2018). Warnings to counter choice
 blindness for identification decisions: Warnings offer an advantage in time but not
 in rate of detection. Frontiers in Psychology, 9, 981.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00981
- Sagana, A., Sauerland, M., & Merckelbach, H. (2014). This is the person you selected:

 Blindness' for Their Own Facial Recognition Decisions. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 28(5), 753-764. https://doi.org/10.1002/acp.3062
- Saltzburg, S. A. (2013). Judicial innovations to screen eyewitness identifications. *Criminal Justice*, 28(2), 38-42. http://ssrn.com/abstract=2642267
- Samaha, J. (1999). Criminal procedure. Wadsworth.
- Sangero, B., & Halpert, M. (2007). Why a conviction should not be based on a single piece of evidence: A proposal for reform. *Jurimetrics*, 48(1), 43-94. https://www.jstor.org/stable/25767388
- Sant-Barket, S. (2019). Perceiver contributors to facial recognition: How might racial (self) awareness facilitate or inhibit cross-racial identification? [Doctoral Dissertation, Columbia University]. ProQuest Dissertation Publishing.
- Satterfield, J. (2004). Witness recalls night he was shot; Defense attorney says client is being wrongly identified as gunman. *News Sentinel. B1*.
- Saunders, J. (2009). Memory impairment in the weapon focus effect. *Memory & Cognition*, 37(3), 326-335. https://doi.org/10.3758/MC.37.3.326
- Scheck, B., Neufeld, P., & Dwyer, J. (2000). Actual Innocence. New York: Random

House.

- Scherr, K. C., Normile, C. J., Luna, S., Redlich, A. D., Lawrence., & Catlin, M. (2020).

 Falso admission of guilt associated with wrongful convictions undermine people's perceptions of exonerees. *Psychology, Public Policy & Law, 26*(3), 233-244.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/law0000238
- Scherr, K. C., Normile, C. J., & Sarmiento, M. C. (2018). Reluctant to embrace innocence: An experimental test of persevering culpability judgments on people's willingness to support reintegration services for exonerees. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 14(4), 529-538. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11292-017-9306-2
- Schlosberg, A., Mandery, E. J., West., V., & Callaghan, B. (2014). Criminology

 Expungement and post exoneration offending. *The Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology*, 104(2), 353-358.

 https://scholarlycommons.law.northwestern.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=7478
 &context=jclc
- Sells, D., Curtis, A., Abdur-Raheem, Klimczak, M., Barber, C., Meaden, Hasson, J.,
 Fallon, P., Justice and B& Emigh-Guy, M. (2020). Peer-mentored community
 reentry reduces recidivism. Criminal Behavior, 47(4), 437-456.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854820901562
 1562
- Sharps, M. J. Hess, A. B., Casner, H. Ranes, B., & Jones, J. (2007). Eyewitness memory in context: Toward a systematic understanding of eyewitness evidence. *Forensic*

- Examiner, 16(3), 20-27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11896-008-9029-4
- Sherif, M., & Sherif, C.M. (1967). Attitudes as the individual's own categories: The social judgment-involvement approach to attitude and attitude change. In Sherif,
 M. & Sherif, C. M. (Eds.). *Attitude, ego-involvement, and change* (pp. 105-139).
 Greenwood Press.
- Sherr, K. C., Normile, C. J., Luna, S., & Redlich, A. D. (2020). False admission of guilt associated with wrongful convictions undermine peoples perceptions of exonerees *Psychology, Public Policy & Law, 26*(3) 233-244.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/law0000238
- Simms, T. (2016). Statutory compensation for the wrongly convicted. *Social Work*, *61*(2), 155-162. https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/sww003
- Simon, M. K., & Goes, J. (2011). What is phenomenological research? Includes excerpts

 From Simon (2011), *Dissertation and Scholarly Research: Recipes for Success*.

 Dissertation Success LLC.
- Singal, J. (2014, August 20). Eyewitness accounts in Ferguson-and everywhere else-are very flawed. *CUT*. https://www.thecut.com/2014/08/eyewitness-wont-solve-the michealbrowncase.html
- Skorinko, J. L., & Spellman, B. A. (2013). Stereotypic crimes: How group-crime associations affect memory and (sometimes) verdicts and sentencing. *Victims and Offenders*, 8(3), 278-307. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11896-008-9029
- Smalarz, L., Madon, S., Yang, Y., Guyll, M., & Buck, S. (2016). The perfect match: Do criminal stereotypes bias forensic evidence analysis? *Law and Human Behavior*,

- 40(4), 420-429. https://doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000190
- Smith, E., & Hattery, A. J. (2011). Race, wrongful conviction & exoneration. *Journal of African American Studies*. 15, 74-94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12111-010-9130-5
- Sporer, S. L. (2001). The cross-race effect: Beyond recognition of faces in the laboratory.

 *Psychology, Public Policy and Law, 7(1), 170-200. https://doi.org/10.1037//1076-8971.7.1.170
- Springer, V., & Lalasz, C. B. (2014). Death qualified jurors and the assumption of Innocence: A cognitive dissonance perspective on conviction-prone verdicts. *The Social Science Journal*, *51*(2), 287-294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.2013.08.010
- Steblay, N. M. (1992). A meta-analytic review of the weapon focus effect. *Law and Human Behavior*, 16(4), 413-424. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02352267
- Steblay, N. M. (1997). Social influence in eyewitness recall: A meta-analysis review of lineup instruction effects. *Law and Human Behavior*, 21(3), 283-297. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1024890732059
- Steblay, N. M., Tix, R. W., & Benson, S. L. (2013) Double exposure: The effects of repeated identifications lineups on eyewitness accuracy. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 27(5), 644-654. https://doi.org/10.1002/ACP.2944
- Steblay, S. L., Dietrich, H. L., Ryan, S. L., & James, K. L. (2011). Sequential lineup laps and eyewitness accuracy. *Law and Human Behavior*, *35*(4), 262-274. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10979-010-9236-2
- Stenzel, C. (2017). Eyewitness misidentification: A mistake that binds investigations, sways juries, and locks innocent people behind bars. *Creighton Law Review*,

- 50(3), 515-532. https://dspace2.creighton.edu/xmlui/handle/10504/113273
- Stepanova, E. V. (2013). *Cross-ethnicity effect (Face Recognition)*. The Encyclopedia of Cross-Cultural Psychology. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118339893.wbeccp117
- Szyszko, A. (2018). *Chronicles of a death row exoneree: Life prior, during, and after a wrongful conviction* (Publication No. 1682) [Undergraduate honors thesis, University of Colorado, Boulder].

 https://scholar.colorado.edu/downloads/q811kk19p
- Taylor, E., Gillborn, D., & Ladson-Billings, G. (2009). Foundations of critical race theory in education. Routledge.
- Tessoulin, M., Galharret, J. M., Gilet, A. L., & Colombel, F. (2020). Misinformation effect in aging: A new light with equivalence testing. *The Journal of Gerontology: Series Bm* 75(1), 96-103. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbz057
- The Innocence Project. (n.d.). *DNA Exonerations in the United States*.

 https://innocenceproject.org/dna-exonerations-in-the-united-states/
- The Sage Encyclopedia of Communication Research. (2017). Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.4135/978148331411.n368
- Thompson, S. G. (2012). Judicial gatekeeping of police generated witness testimony.

 Journal of Criminal Law & Criminology, 102(2), 329-395.

 https://scholarlycommons.law.northwestern.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=&htt

 psredir=1&article=7425&context=jclc
- Tiemens, R. K. (2001, June). Visual communication on trial: Analyzing photographic techniques to change eyewitness testimony [Presentation]. Annual Visual

- Communication Conference, Yamhill, OR
- Tonry, M. (2010). The social, psychological, and political causes of racial disparities in the American criminal justice system. *Crime and justice*, *39*(1), 273-312. https://doi.org/10.1086/653045
- Tulles, J. G., Benjamin, A. S., & Liu, X. (2014). Self-pacing study of faces of different races: metacognitive control over study does not eliminate the cross-race recognition effect. *Memory & Cognition*, 42(6), 863-875.

 https://doi.org/10.3758.s13421-014-0409-y
- United States v Smith, 563 F .2nd 1361, 1365 (9th Cir. 1977) (Hufstedler, J., concurring). Video, Murder on a Sunday Afternoon.
- Vitriol, J. A., Appleby, J., & Borgida, E. (2019). Racial bias increases false identification of Black suspects in simultaneous lineups. *Social, Psychological, and Personality Science*, 10(6), 722-734. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550618784889
- Vredeveldt, A., Groen, R. N., Ampt, J. E., & Koppen, P. J. (2017). When discussion between Eyewitnesses helps memory. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, 22(2), 242-259. https://doi.org/10.1111/lcrp.12097
- Walberg, M. (2009, May 5). Thaddeus Jimenez released from prison after wrongful conviction in 1993 shooting. Chicago Tribune.

 http://articles.chicagotribune.com/20099-

 05/news0905040502_1_wrongfulconvictions-alvarez-police-and-prosecutors
- Waldmeir, P. (1999, May 03). Identification of crime suspects become racially charged:

 New Jersey court acknowledges studies showing witnesses may have trouble

- identifying members of other races. Financial Times [London (UK)].
- Ward, P. R. (2014, June 14). *PA court rulings differ on expert witnesses allowed to testify on memory fallibility, not false confessions*. Pittsburgh Post-Gazette.

 https://www.postgazette.com/local/region/2014/06/15/Pennsylvania-court-rulings-differ-on-expertwitnesses/stories/201406150097
- Webb, L. (2015). The Immortal Accusation. *Washington Law Review*, 90(4), 1853-1900. https://digitalcommons.law.uw.edu/wlr/vol90/iss4/7
- Weinstein, H. (2005, April 14). Commission urges changes in use of eyewitness identifications. Los Angeles Times. https://www.latimes.com/archives/la-xpm-2006-apr-14-mewitness14-story.html
- Wells, G. L., & Olson, E. A. (2003). Eyewitness testimony. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *54*, 277-295.

 https://doi.org/10.1.1146/annurev.psych.54.101601.145028
- Wells, G. L., Steblay, N. K., & Dysart, J. E. (2015). Double blind photo lineups using actual eyewitnesses: An experimental test of a sequential versus simultaneous lineup procedure. *Law and Human Behavior*, *39*(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000096
- Westervelt, S. D., & Cook, K. J. (2008). Coping with innocence after death row.

 *Contexts, 7(4), 32-37. https://doi.org/10.1525/ctx2008.7.4.32
- Westerveldt, S. D., & Cook, K. J. (2010). Framing innocents: The wrongly convicted as victims of state harm. *Crime, Law and Social Change*, *53*(3), 259-275. https://doi.org/10.1007/s1064-009-9231-z

- Westervelt, S. D., & Cook, K. J. (2018). Continuing trauma and aftermath for exonerated death row survivors. In H. Toch, J. R. Acker, & V. M. Bonventre (Eds.), *Living on death row: The psychology of waiting to die* (pp. 301–329). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/0000084-013
- White, K. M. (2013). The salience of skin tone: effects on the exercise of police enforcement authority. *Ethnic and Racial Studies 38*(6), 993-1010. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2014.952752
- Wiese, H., Kaufman, J. M., & Schweinberger, S. R. (2014). The neural signature of the own-race bias: Evidence from event-related potentials. *Cerebral Cortex*, *24*(3). 826-835. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhs369
- Wildeman, J., Costelloe, M., & Schehr, R. (2011). Experiencing wrongful sand unlawful conviction. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, *50*(7). 411-432. https://doi.org/10.1080/10509674.2011.603033
- Williams, E. J., & Robinson, M. (2004). Ideology and criminal justice: Suggestion for a pedagogical Model. *Journal of Criminal Justice Education*, 15(2), 373-392. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511250400086031
- Wilson, J. P., Hugenberg, K., & Bernstein, M. J. (2013). The cross-race effect and eyewitness Identification: How to improve recognition and reduce decision errors in eyewitness Situations. *Social Issues and Policy Review, 7*(1), 83-113. https://doi.org/10.1111.j.1751-2409.2012.01044.x
- Witmer, B. G., & Klein, P. B. (1998) Judging perceived and transversed distance in virtual environments. *Presence*, 7(2), 144-167.

https://doi.org/10.1162/105474698565640

- Witt, J. K. (2011). Actions effect on perception. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 20(3), 201-216. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721411408770
- Wixted, J. T. (2016). From the pigeon lab to the courtroom. *Comparative Cognition & Behavior Review*, 11, 1-24.
- Wixted, J. T. (2018). Time to exonerate eyewitness memory. *Forensic Science International*, 292, e13-e15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forsclint.2018.08.018
- Wixted, J. T., Mickes, I., Clark, S. E., Gronlund, S. D., & Roediger, H. L. (2015). Initial eyewitness confidence reliably predicts eyewitness identification accuracy.

 American Psychologist, 70(6), 516-526. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0039510
- Wong, H. K., Stephen, I. D., & Keeble, D. R. T. (2020). The own race bias for face recognition in a multiracial society. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11(208), 2-16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00208
- Xiong, M., Greenleaf, R.J., & Goldschmidt, J. (2017). Citizen attitudes toward errors in criminal justice: Implications of the declining acceptance of Blackstone's ratio.

 International Journal of Law, Crime and Justice, 48, 14-26.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijlcj.2016.10.001
- Zalman, M. (2017). Wrongful convictions and criminal justice: A challenge and invitation. *Published in ACJS Today: The Newsletter of the Academy of Criminal Justice Sciences*, 42(1).
 - https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2911639
- Zanella, L., Clow, K., Rempel, E., Hamovitch, L., & Hall, V. (2020). The effects of race

and criminal history on landlords (UN)willingness to rent to exonerees. *Law and Human Behavior*, 44(4), 300-310. https://doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000419

Appendix: Interview Guide

- 1. Let's start with the story of how you were originally detained or brought in for questioning about the event?
 - a. Tell me about the crime you were accused of.
 - b. What was going on for you when this was happening?
 - c. What did this mean to you?
 - d. What did you experience when they actually arrested you?
- 2. What led up to the conviction?
 - a. What was going on for your when this was happening?
 - b. What did this mean to you?
 - c. What did you experience when they actually convicted you?
 - d. What influenced the jury's decision to convict you?
 - i. probe for the experience of implicit bias, eyewitness testimony, crosscultural misidentification
- 3. What do you think influenced the jury to incorrectly find you guilty?
 - a. What did that mean to you then?
 - b. What does that experience mean to you now?
 - probe for the experience of implicit bias, eyewitness testimony, crosscultural misidentification
- 4. Tell me about your exoneration experience?
 - a. How did it start?

- b. What happened along the way (e.g., compensation, resources for filing appeals, role of family and other supports)
- c. Then probing questions (i.e., what happened next? What did that mean?)
- 5. Tell me about your life now.
- 6. Is there anything else you'd like to tell me?